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This annual report on Form 10-K is for the year ended December 31, 2007. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
allows us to “incorporate by reference” information that we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to
you by referring you directly to those documents. Information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this annual report. In
addition, information that we file with the SEC in the future will automatically update and supersede information contained in this annual
report. In this annual report, “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

2

Table of Contents

PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Company has based these
forward-looking statements on the Company’s current expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking
statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and the Company’s subsidiaries that
may cause the Company’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. In many cases,
you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “should,” “will,” “expect,” “objective,” “projection,” “forecast,” “goal,”
“guidance,” “outlook,” “effort,” “target” and other similar words. However, the absence of these words does not mean that the
statements are not forward-looking. Factors that might cause or contribute to a material difference include, but are not limited to,
those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report, including the section entitled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in the
Company’s other Securities and Exchange Commission filings. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.

ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

General
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us”), a Delaware corporation, is a transportation services
organization focused upon premium transportation solutions provided through one of four non-asset based or asset-light operating units.
The Company’s operations consist of distinct but complementary operational segments, each with its own business unit leader. Our
wholly owned subsidiaries include, Express-1, Inc. (“Express-1”), Express-1 Dedicated, Inc. (“Express-1 Dedicated” or “Evansville”),
Concert Group Logistics, Inc. (“Concert Group Logistics” or “CGL”) and Bounce Logistics, Inc. (“Bounce Logistics”, or “Bounce”).
These segment operations are more fully outlined in the table below, which reflects the business unit; location of the business unit
headquarters office; premium transportation niche served by the unit; and initial date the unit began business within our consolidated
company.
Business Unit

Initial Date(1)
P r i m a r y

Express-1 Dedicated
Express-1
Concert Group Logistics
Bounce Logistics

O f f i c e

L o c a t i o n

P r e m i u m

I n d u s t r y

N i c h e

Evansville, Indiana
Buchanan, Michigan
Downers Grove, Illinois

Dedicated Expedite Movements
Expedited Transportation
Freight Forwarding

South Bend, Indiana

Premium Truckload Brokerage

April 2003

August 2004
January 2008
March 2008

(1) Express-1 and Concert Group Logistics were both existing companies acquired as part of two separate acquisitions. Express-1 was
formed in 1989, while Concert Group Logistics, LLC was formed in 2001. Express-1 Dedicated and Bounce Logistics were both
start-up operations and formed in the years denoted under the column labeled initial date.

We serve a diverse client base located primarily within the United States and portions of Canada and Mexico. To a lesser extent, our
Concert Group Logistics business unit provides international freight forwarding services to customers within other regions of the world.
Our premium services are focused on the needs of shippers for reliable same-day, time-critical, special handling or customized logistics
solutions. We also provide aircraft charter services through third-party providers, in support of our customers’ critical shipments. During
2007, we provided more than 65,000 critical movements for our customers through two business segments, Express-1 and Express-1
Dedicated. These two units comprised approximately 90% and 10% respectively, of our consolidated revenues. We acquired Concert
Group Logistics in January 2008 and started Bounce Logistics in March 2008, and will begin to report results of operations on those two
units in subsequent periods. On a prospective basis, we anticipate the addition of CGL and the formation of Bounce Logistics to change
the apportionment of revenue within the consolidated company.
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Historical Development
Our Company changed its name to Segmentz, Inc. (“Segmentz”) in 2001 in conjunction with a reverse merger and remained a
Delaware corporation. Immediately prior to this merger, the Company had no on-going operations. The Company was headquartered in
Tampa, Florida and its management team planned and executed a series of acquisitions within different modes of the transportation
industry. To fund these acquisitions, the Company raised capital through a series of private placements. The Company’s physical
presence grew to include operations in twenty (20) cities, but remained unprofitable on a consolidated basis.
In accordance with a restructuring plan begun in 2004 and completed in 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors replaced the
executive management team and relocated the headquarters to Buchanan, Michigan. During the process, the Company closed all
unprofitable locations and businesses. The restructuring plan was completed in 2005 and remaining were the Company’s profitable
expedited services provided through the Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated business segments. The Company incurred charges of
$4.5 million in 2005 following $2.6 million in 2004 based upon this restructuring activity.
In conjunction with the annual shareholders meeting in June 2006, our name was changed to Express-1 Expedited Solutions Inc.,
further supporting our break from the past and focus on premium transportation services. Through a newly formed subsidiary, Concert
Group Logistics, Inc., we acquired certain assets, liabilities and operations from Concert Group Logistics, LLC in January 2008. Bounce
Logistics was also formed in 2008, with operations beginning in March of this year.

Our Business Segments
As of December 31, 2007, our Company’s operations consisted of two business units, Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated, which
comprised approximately 90% and 10% of our consolidated revenues respectively. Within this annual report on Form 10-K, the financial
statements and supporting information presented is comprised of the results of these two business segments, unless otherwise denoted.
Subsequent to December 31, 2007, our two new business segments, Concert Group Logistics and Bounce Logistics became part of our
consolidated operations. Operating results of these two new business segments will be included in our subsequent reports.

Our four business segments — Express-1, Express-1 Dedicated, Concert Group Logistics and Bounce Logistics, are described more
fully below. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Number 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information, we summarized segment financial information under Note 19 accompanying the financial statements in Item 8
of this report. Accounting policies for the reportable operation segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies in Note 1 to the financial statements and contained in Item 8 of this report. The table below contains some basic
information on two of our segments, Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated. Our other two reporting segments became part of our operations
subsequent to December 31, 2007, and were therefore not incorporated into this table.

Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.

Segment Financial Data
Year

Express-1

Express-1 Dedicated

2007
2006
2005
2007
2006
2005

Revenues

$

47,713,000
37,327,000
30,667,000

5,076,000
4,864,000
4,465,000

Operating Income

$

4,525,000
3,891,000
2,051,000
591,000
230,000
(143,000)

Total Assets

$ 20,052,000
17,889,000
15,854,000
847,000

582,000
596,000

Express-1
Offering expedited transportation services to over 1,500 customers from our Buchanan, Michigan and Toledo, Ohio facilities,
Express-1 has become one of the largest ground expedite companies in North America, handling
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more than 60,000 shipments during 2007. Expedite transportation services can be characterized as time-critical, time-sensitive, emergency
and/or high priority freight shipments, many of which have special handling needs. A number of transportation companies within the
U.S. offer some version of time-sensitive or time-critical shipments within their operations, while others offer high priority transportation
services or special handling. Expedited transportation services are unique and can be differentiated, since expedite freight movements are
typically created due to an emergency situation. Shipping emergencies are created due to supply chain interruptions, failure within another
mode of transportation or for any number of other reasons. Expedited shipments are predominantly direct transit movements offering
door-to-door service within very tightly prescribed time parameters.
Customers offer loads to Express-1 via telephone, fax, e-mail or the Internet on a daily basis, with only a small percentage of loads
being scheduled in advance for longer term delivery cycles. Contracts, as is common within the transportation industry, typically relate to
terms and rates, but not committed business volumes. Express-1 offers an ISO 9001:2000 certified, twenty-four hour, seven day-a-week
call center allowing its customers immediate communication and status of time sensitive shipments while in transit.
Customers are also provided with electronic alerts, shipment tracking, proof of delivery, notifications, billing status and customized
performance reports.

Express-1 is predominantly a non-asset based service provider, meaning the transportation equipment used in its operations is
almost exclusively provided by third parties, with less than one percent of the vehicles being owned by the company. These third-party
owned vehicles are driven by independent contract drivers and by drivers employed directly by independent owners of multiple pieces of
equipment, commonly referred to as fleet owners. Express-1 generates its profit margin on the difference between the amount charged to
customers and the amount it pays the third-party carriers, less applicable insurances, fees and vehicle taxes.
Express-1 serves its customers through a variety of exclusive-use vehicles, providing reliable, same-day or high-priority freight
movements between shipping points within the United States, parts of Canada and Mexico. Vehicle class sizes include cargo vans, both
twelve foot and twenty-four foot straight trucks and semi tractor-trailers. Services include expedited surface transportation and aircraft
charters. As of December 31, 2007, we employed 85 full-time associates to support our Express-1 operations.

Express-1 Dedicated
Our Express-1 Dedicated operation provides dedicated delivery services to approximately 190 automotive dealerships within a
250 mile radius of Evansville, Indiana. Daily, our team receives, sorts, and stages approximately 1,000 pieces of automotive freight from
a distribution facility in Evansville, Indiana. The Express-1 Dedicated Team dispatches units on over 20 dedicated routes and manages a
stringent on-time delivery schedule. The entire Express-1 Dedicated staff strives to consistently provide an exemplary level of service, and
has been recognized by its contract customer as the top performing provider on multiple occasions. Express-1 Dedicated utilizes a fleet of
company leased and company owned vehicles to provide its services. An initial four-year contract for dedicated services expired in April
2007 and was mutually extended with an indefinite expiration by the parties. Some of the contract renewal terms were more favorable and
should allow Express-1 Dedicated to become more profitable on a prospective basis. As of December 31, 2007, we employed 44 full-time
associates in our Express-1 Dedicated operations, including management, office support, dock, and driving personnel.

Concert Group Logistics
The Concert Group Logistics operations were acquired in January 2008 in a purchase transaction involving certain assets, liabilities
and operations of privately held Concert Group Logistics, LLC. Headquartered in Downers Grove, Illinois, Concert Group Logistics,
LLC was founded in 2001 as a non-asset based transportation services company with an operational focus on the freight forwarding
niche of the transportation industry. The Concert Group Logistics operating model is designed to attract and reward independent owners
of freight forwarding services from various domestic markets. These independent owners operate stations within exclusive geographical
regions under long-term contracts with Concert Group Logistics. The founders of Concert Group Logistics along with the management
team all support the belief that customers’ needs are best served when “owners deliver” the goods and services for customers. The
independent network model allows Concert Group Logistics to offer greater
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flexibility and reliability than many of its peers in the freight forwarding community, while lowering the total cost of services to
customers. We believe the use of the independent station owner network provides some competitive advantages in the market place. As of
January 1, 2008, Concert Group Logistics supported its 22 independently owned stations with 20 full-time associates.
Through its network and the expertise of its independent station owners, Concert Group Logistics has the capability to provide
logistics services on a global basis. Concert Group Logistics services are not restricted by size, weight, mode or location and can be
tailored to meet the transportation requirements of its client base. Below, some of the domestic and international services provided by
Concert Group Logistics are outlined by service category.

Domestic Offerings — time critical services including as-soon-as possible, air charter and expedites: time sensitive services
including next day, second day and third day deliveries; and cost sensitive services including deferred delivery and full loads.
International Offerings — time critical services including on-board courier and air charters; time sensitive services including direct
transit and consolidation; and cost sensitive services including less-than-container loads, full-container-loads and vessel charters.

Other Service Offerings — value added services including documentation on international loads, customs clearance and banking
support services; and customized services including trade show shipment management, transportation partnerships, diversity programs
and on-site asset retrieval.

Bounce Logistics
Bounce Logistics began operations in March 2008 and is headquartered in South Bend, Indiana. Lead by an experienced
management team, Bounce Logistics is a non-asset based transportation company operationally focused on providing full-truckload
freight brokerage services to customers in need of greater customer service levels than those typically offered in the market place. These
premium services are offered to customers of Express-1 and to Concert Group Logistics through CGL’s independent station owners.
Bounce also services other customers in need of non-expedite premium transportation movements. As of March 10, 2008, Bounce
Logistics employed 4 full-time associates within its operations.

GROWTH STRATEGY
Our current growth strategy is focused on initiatives, which we feel will enhance both our top and bottom lines. Through internal
growth, which we refer to as organic growth, our board of directors and management team believe we will be able to continue to increase
our market presence and geographic footprint. We believe our operations are positioned to allow our company to sustain strong rates of
organic revenue growth. Our confidence in this strategy is based, in part, upon the successful record of double-digit organic growth
within both Express-1 and Concert Group Logistics. We believe our Bounce Logistics business unit will also establish a track record of
excellent organic growth, as this operation develops. Our Express-1 Dedicated operations will have more limited growth opportunities, due
to the nature of its dedicated contract operating platform.
Complementing our organic growth initiatives, we plan to continue evaluating selective acquisitions and start-ups, provided they fit
into our footprint of offering premium transportation services through the use of a non-asset based operational model. Prior to making any
investment of human resources and capital, each opportunity will be evaluated for its long-term strategic fit and must complement our
geographic footprint or provide entry into a different niche of the premium transportation market.
INFORMATION SYSTEMS

The transportation industry increasingly relies upon information technology to link the shipper with its inventory and as an
analytical tool to optimize transportation solutions. We utilize satellite tracking and communication units on our fleet of vehicles to
continually update the position of equipment in our Express-1 and Bounce Logistics business units. Our Express-1 Dedicated operation
uses an alternative form of wireless communication to stay in touch with its fleet. These two forms of communication equipment allow us
to communicate to an individual unit or to a larger group of units, based upon our specific needs. Information received through our
satellite tracking
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and communication system automatically updates our internal software and provides our customers with real-time electronic updates.
We have invested in what we believe are the most advanced operational, support and management software systems available for
each of our business segments, with most of this software being provided by third-party vendors. This software has been designed to
support the unique operational characteristics of the industry niche in which it is deployed. We have further customized these systems to
more readily facilitate the flow of information from outside sources into our operations centers for use by our personnel and customers.
Investments in technology including satellite communications equipment, computer networks, software customization and related
information technology hardware typically represent our largest single capital expenditure on an annual basis, and we believe the increased
utilization of technology is critical to our continued success.

CUSTOMERS, SALES AND MARKETING
Our business units provide services to a variety of customers ranging in size from small entrepreneurial organizations to Fortune
500 companies. Each year, we collectively serve thousands of different customers and our customer base routinely changes from year-toyear. Our customers include major domestic and foreign automotive manufacturers, manufacturers of automotive components and
supplies, commercial printers, consumer staples, pharmaceuticals, non-automotive manufacturers and the high tech sector. We have
hazmat authority and transport lower risk hazardous materials such as automotive paint and batteries on occasion. In addition, we serve
third-party logistics providers, airfreight forwarders and integrated air-cargo carriers. Our third-party logistics customers vary in size
from small, independent, single facility organizations to large, global logistics companies. Within our Express-1 and Bounce Logistics
business units, our services are marketed within the United States, portions of Canada and Mexico. In addition to offering services
within these same markets, our Concert Group Logistics also provides international services by both air and ocean as well as other value
added services. Our Express-1 Dedicated unit principally services one domestic customer.
We maintain a staff of external sales representatives and related support staff within Express-1, Express-1 Dedicated and Bounce
Logistics. Within Concert Group Logistics services are introduced to customers by our network of independent station owners, who
manage the sales relationships within their exclusive markets. We believe our independent station ownership structure enables salespeople
to better serve customers by developing a broad knowledge of logistics, local and regional market conditions, and specific logistics issues
facing individual customers. Under the guidance of these experienced entrepreneurs independent stations are given significant latitude to
pursue opportunities and to commit resources to better serve customers.
Each year we seek to establish long-term relationships with new customers and to increase the amount of business done with our
existing customers. We are committed to the strategy of providing customers with a full range of logistics services and have grown by
adding new customers and by increasing our volumes with, and providing more services to, our existing customers. Our ability to offer
multiple services utilizing our four business segments represents a competitive advantage. During 2007, no customer accounted for more
than 17% of consolidated gross revenues. Due to the recent acquisition of Concert Group Logistics and the formation of Bounce Logistics,
our customer concentration and concentration within the automotive industry has been reduced significantly.

COMPETITION AND BUSINESS CONDITIONS
The transportation industry is intensely competitive and we anticipate it will remain so for the foreseeable future. The market is also
highly fragmented with thousands of transportation companies competing for a portion of the domestic and international market. Our
competitors include regional, national and international companies that specialize in premium transportation services such as same-day or
high-priority freight movements, freight brokerage and freight forwarding services. Each of our business segments competes with many
other transportation service providers for the opportunity to serve the same customer base. None of our business segments operates from a
position of dominance within its market, and each unit competes daily to retain the business relationships it has developed.
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The competitive landscape is characterized on service, delivery timeframes, flexibility and reliability, as well as rates. We have
historically offered superior service at rates we feel are in-line with those charged by competitors in our markets. We believe we have
developed an advantage over many competitors based upon the reputation of our business units for quickly and efficiently covering the
transportation needs of customers. Consequently, rates are typically not used as a primary means of increasing sales and market position.

REGULATION
The U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) regulates the domestic transportation industry. This regulatory authority has broad
powers, generally governing matters such as authority to engage in motor carrier operations, safety, hazardous materials transportation,
certain mergers, consolidations and acquisitions and periodic financial reporting. The trucking industry is subject to regulatory and
legislative changes, which can affect the economics of the industry. We are also regulated by various state agencies and, in Canada, by
other regulatory authorities.
Our “satisfactory” safety rating is the highest rating given by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA), a
department within the DOT. There are three safety ratings assigned to motor carriers: “satisfactory”, “conditional”, meaning that there are
deficiencies requiring correction but not so significant to warrant loss of carrier authority, and “unsatisfactory”, which is the result of
acute deficiencies that may lead to the revocation of carrier authority.
Our operations are also subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations dealing with transportation,
storage, presence, use, and the disposal and handling of hazardous material. The Code of Federal Regulations regarding the transportation
of hazardous material, groups these materials into different classes according to risk. These regulations also require us to maintain
minimum levels of insurance. At this time, we transport only low to medium risk hazardous material, representing a very small
percentage of our total shipments.

For domestic business, our Concert Group Logistics business unit is also subject to regulation by the DOT in regards to air cargo
security for all business, regardless of origin and destination, is regulated as an “indirect air carrier” by the Department of Homeland
Security and Transportation Security Administration. These agencies provide requirements, guidance and in some cases licensing to the
freight forwarding industry. This ensures that we have satisfactorily completed the security requirements and qualifications, adhered to
the economic regulations, and implemented the required policies and procedures. These agencies require companies to fulfill these
qualifications prior to transacting various types of business, failure to do so could results in penalties and fines.
For international business, our Concert Group Logistics business unit is a member of the International Air Transportation
Association (IATA), a voluntary association of airlines and forwarders, which outlines operating procedures for freight forwarders acting
as agents for its members. A substantial portion of our international air freight business is completed with other IATA members. For
international ocean business we are registered as an Ocean Transportation Intermediary (OTI) by the Federal Maritime Commission
(FMC), which establishes the qualifications and bonding requirements to operate as an OTI for business originating and terminating in
the United States of America, as well as providing economic regulation. The FMC has authority to enforce regulations by assessing
penalties and fines.
Our international services performed in foreign countries are provided through qualified local independent agents who hold the
necessary authorities to operate and are subject to regulation and foreign jurisdiction in their respective countries.

SEASONALITY
Historically, our revenues and profitability have been subject to some seasonal fluctuations. In our historical cycle approximately
45% of our revenues developed in the first half of each year, with the balance coming in the latter half. Over the past couple of years, we
have experienced some variation in this historical cyclicality with a stronger first half being dominated by the second quarter in each year.
At this time, it is not possible to determine whether this recent cycle will continue or has been created solely from conditions within the
U.S. economy.
We anticipate the seasonality of both our Concert Group Logistics and Bounce Logistics operations to follow a similar trend as that
of our Express-1 business unit, in future periods. However, it is possible that during periods of
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rapid growth, seasonal fluctuations will be masked by successful gains in market share in three of our operating units, Express-1,
Concert Group Logistics and Bounce Logistics. Our Express-1 Dedicated operating unit is not anticipated to follow this pattern, due to its
reliance upon its dedicated contract.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS
At December 31, 2007, we had 132 full-time employees, none of which were covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Of this
number, 85 were engaged in our Express-1 operations, while 44 associates support our Express-1 Dedicated services. Three people are
employed in our Corporate group. We recognize our trained staff of employees as one of our most critical resources, and acknowledge the
recruitment, training and retention of qualified employees as essential to our ongoing success.

In addition to employees, we support the capacity needs of Express-1 and Bounce Logistics through the use of independent contract
drivers, which we refer to as “VP’s” for value providers. These individuals operate one or more of their own vehicles and pay for all the
operating expenses of their equipment, including: wages, benefits, fuel, fuel taxes, physical damage insurance, maintenance, highway use
taxes, and other related equipment costs. By utilizing the services of independent contractors we have reduced the amount of capital
required for our growth, which we feel has lessened our financial risk.

Within Concert Group Logistics operations, we support our service needs through a network of independently owned stations. Each
of these stations is a stand-alone business with its own unique ownership and employee base. These independents provide sales and
support for Concert Group Logistics, including negotiating with and maintaining customer relationships, managing transportation
services with third-party providers and providing support to the customers of the network. The Concert Group Logistics operating model
is designed upon the premise that when owners deliver, superior attention to detail and performance result. The Concert Group Logistics
motto is, “owners deliver,” reflecting this belief.

SEC FILINGS
In 2007, we became a “Smaller Reporting Company” for the purpose of filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. As
such, certain report sections previously required with “Regular Filer” status have become optional. We have chosen to include those
optional disclosures that, in the opinion of management, enhance the understanding of our Company.

In 2006, we became a regular filer for the purpose of filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Prior to 2006,
we had been a small business filer. We have filed Form 10-K for annual reporting purposes and Forms 10-Q for interim period reports.
Prior to this reporting change, we filed Forms 10-KSB for annual reports and Forms 10-QSB for interim reports. We make available on
our website, located at www.express-1.com, all materials filed with the SEC.

Our public filings may also be accessed free of charge on the SEC’s Edgar website, located at www.sec.gov, or read and copied at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

Neither the information on our Company website nor the SEC website is incorporated in this report as a result of these references.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc is incorporated in Delaware. Our executive office is located at 3399 South Lakeshore Drive,
Saint Joseph, Michigan 49085. Our telephone number is (269) 429-9761 and the Internet website address is www.express-1.com. Our
stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange (AMEX) under the symbol “XPO”. The information on our website is not incorporated in
this report as a result of this reference.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

CUSTOMER CONCENTRATION; RELIANCE ON AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY COULD SUBJECT OUR BUSINESS
TO NEGATIVE TRENDS OR DEFAULTS ON ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
We obtained approximately 50% of our revenue from our twenty-five largest customers in 2007 and 2006. While the individual
customer rankings between our top customers often change from time-to-time, we rely upon our relationship with each of these customers
for a significant portion of our revenues. Any interruption in the business volume awarded by these customers could materially adversely
impact our revenues and resulting profitability.

The automotive industry within the U.S. is highly competitive, with increased competition from foreign-based companies. These
companies produce automobiles in both the U.S. as well as foreign locations. The Big Three U.S. automakers have seen declining market
shares fueling concern among the media and numerous financial analysts over whether they will be able to sufficiently scale their
operations to ensure their continuation. In addition to the Big Three automotive manufacturers, our customers include various automotive
industry suppliers that have been, and will continue to be, negatively impacted by the changing landscape in the U.S. automotive market.
Continuing negative trends or a worsening in the financial condition of the domestic U.S. automotive manufacturers, or within the
associated supplier base, could materially adversely impact our company, our revenues, and our results of operations.

ECONOMIC RISKS; RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE BUSINESS OF TRANSPORTATION AND LOGISTICS
MANAGEMENT COULD SUBJECT US TO BUSINESS SWINGS BEYOND OUR CONTROL
Our business is dependent upon a number of factors over which we have little or no control that may have a materially adverse effect
on our results of operations. These factors include: capacity swings in the trucking industry, significant increases or rapid fluctuations in
fuel prices, interest rates, fuel taxes, government regulations, governmental and law enforcement anti-terrorism actions, tolls, license and
registration fees, insurance premiums and labor costs. It is difficult at times to attract and retain qualified drivers and independent
contract-drivers. Operations also are affected by recessionary economic cycles and downturns in customers’ business cycles, particularly
in market segments and industries (such as manufacturing, retail and commercial printing) in which we have a significant concentration
of customers. Seasonal factors could also adversely affect us. Customers tend to reduce shipments after the winter holiday season and
operating expenses tend to be higher in the winter months primarily due to increased operating costs in colder weather and higher fuel
consumption as a result of increased idle time. Regional or nationwide fuel shortages could also have adverse effects.

DEPENDENCE ON EQUIPMENT PROVIDED BY THIRD PARTIES; RELIANCE ON INDEPENDENT
CONTRACTORS COULD RESULT IN OUR INABILITY TO PROVIDE SERVICES
The trucking industry is dependent upon transportation equipment oftentimes provided by independent third parties. Periods of
equipment shortages have occurred periodically in the transportation industry, particularly during a strong economy. If we cannot secure
sufficient transportation equipment or transportation services from these third parties to meet our customers’ needs, our business, results
of operations and financial position could be adversely affected and our customers could seek to have their transportation needs met by
other parties on a temporary or permanent basis.

NEW TRENDS AND TECHNOLOGY; CONSOLIDATION AMONG CUSTOMERS COULD ELIMINATE
CUSTOMERS
If, for any reason, our business of providing services ceases to be a preferred method of obtaining these services by our customers,
or if new supply-chain or technological methods become available and widely utilized to reduce the need for expedite transportation
services, our business could be adversely affected. Moreover, increasing consolidation among customers and the resulting ability of such
customers to utilize their size to negotiate lower outsourcing costs has, and may continue in the future to have, a depressing effect on the
pricing of third-party logistic services. Consolidation is not limited to traditional customers such as manufacturers, but also includes
10
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consolidation of expedite volume by third-party logistics companies, which increasingly control more of the expedite market and influence
prices of expedite services through the use of technology such as Internet auctions.

INTERRUPTION OF BUSINESS DUE TO INCREASED SECURITY MEASURES IN RESPONSE TO TERRORISM
COULD NEGATIVELY IMPACT OUR BUSINESS
The continued threat of terrorism within the United States and the ongoing military action and heightened security measures in
response to such threat has and may cause significant disruption to commerce. Our business depends on the free flow of products and
services through these channels of commerce. In response to terrorists’ activities and threats aimed at the United States, transportation
and other services have at times been slowed or stopped altogether. Further delays or stoppages in transportation or other services could
have a materially adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, we may experience an
increase in operating costs, such as costs for transportation, insurance and security as a result of the activities and potential activities. We
may also face interruption of services due to increased security measures in response to terrorism. The U.S. economy in general can be
adversely affected by terrorist activities and potential activities. Any economic downturn could adversely impact our results of operations
or otherwise adversely affect our ability to grow our business. It is impossible to predict how this may affect our business or the economy
in the U.S. and in the world.
In the event of further threats or acts of terrorism, our business and operations may be severely and adversely affected.

COMPETITION IS INTENSE AND OUR VOLUME OR PROFITS COULD SUFFER AS A RESULT
The transportation and logistics services industry is heavily fragmented and intensely competitive and includes numerous regional,
inter-regional and national competitors, none of which dominates the market. There are several larger transportation providers with
significantly higher capital resources, which could allow that competitor to position their company as a low-cost provider. We often buy
and sell transportation services from and too many of our competitors. Increased competition could create downward pressure on freight
rates, and continued rate pressure may adversely affect our gross profit and income from operations.

REGULATION; WE ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATION BEYOND OUR CONTROL, WHICH COULD NEGATIVELY
IMPACT THE WAY IN WHICH WE OPERATE
Our operations are regulated and licensed by various U.S. and Canadian agencies. Our drivers and independent contractors also
must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (DOT), including those relating to
drug and alcohol testing and hours-of-service. Such matters as weight and equipment dimensions are also subject to U.S. and Canadian
regulations. We also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to fuel emissions, drivers’ hours-of-service,
ergonomics, or other matters affecting safety or operating methods. Future laws and regulations may be more stringent and require
changes in our operating practices, influence the demand for transportation services, or require us to incur significant additional costs.
Higher costs incurred by us or by our suppliers who pass the costs onto us through higher prices could adversely affect our results of
operations.

We cannot predict what impact future regulations may have on our business. Our failure to maintain required permits or licenses, or
to comply with applicable regulations, could result in substantial fines or revocation of our operating permits and licenses.

REVENUE GROWTH MAY SLOW OR CEASE ALTOGETHER, THEREBY HURTING OUR PROFITS
We have achieved significant revenue growth on a historical basis within our Express-1 operations. Our Evansville operation has
been relatively flat from a revenue growth standpoint and cannot be viewed as a significant source of future company growth. There is no
assurance that our revenue growth rate will continue at historical levels or that we can effectively adapt our management, administrative,
and operating systems to respond to any future growth. Our operating margins could be adversely affected by future changes in and
expansion of our business or by changes in economic conditions. Slower or less profitable growth could adversely affect our stock price.
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SUBSTANTIAL ALTERATION OF THE COMPANY’S CURRENT BUSINESS AND REVENUE MODEL COULD
REDUCE OUR ABILITY TO OPERATE PROFITABLY
Our strategy for increasing our revenue and profitability includes continued focus on the expedite transportation market and
cultivation of organic growth opportunities. We may experience difficulties and higher than expected expenses in executing our expedite
business strategy. We cannot assure that any adjustment or change in the business and revenue model will prove to be successful.

ACQUISITIONS MAY NOT BE ACCRETIVE TO OUR EARNINGS
We have made multiple acquisitions since 2001. Accordingly, acquisitions have provided a substantial portion of our historical
growth. There is no assurance that we will be successful in identifying, negotiating, or consummating any future acquisitions.

Most of our historical acquisitions have not been successful. If we make acquisitions in the future, there is no assurance that we will
be able to negotiate favorable terms or successfully integrate the acquired companies or assets into our business. If we fail to do so, or we
experience other risks associated with acquisitions, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected.

INABILITY TO MANAGE GROWTH AND INTERNAL EXPANSION COULD REDUCE OUR PROFITS
Our inability to manage anticipated future growth could hurt the results of operations. Expansion of operations will be required to
address anticipated growth of our customer base and market opportunities. Expansion will place a significant strain on our management,
operational and financial resources. Currently, we have a limited number of employees. We will need to continually improve existing
procedures and controls as well as implement new transaction processing, operational and financial systems, procedures and controls to
expand, train and manage our employee base. Failure to manage growth effectively could have a damaging effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

DEPENDENCE ON DRIVERS SUBJECTS US TO WORKFORCE INTERUPTIONS BEYOND OUR CONTROL
Our driver force is primarily made up of independent contract drivers, with only a handful of company drivers in our Express-1
operations and approximately 25 company drivers in our Evansville location. At times we have experienced substantial difficulty in
attracting and retaining sufficient numbers of qualified drivers. In addition, due in part to current economic conditions, including the
higher cost of fuel, insurance, and equipment, the available pool of independent contract drivers has been declining. This decline is
especially apparent within the fleet of straight trucks, which serve many of the critical needs of the expedite industry. Because of the
shortage of qualified drivers, the availability of alternative jobs due to current economic conditions, and intense recruiting competition
from other trucking companies, we expect to continue to face difficulty increasing the number of drivers, who are our principal source of
planned fleet expansion and resulting growth. In addition, our industry as a whole suffers from high rates of driver turnover, which
requires us to continually recruit a substantial number of drivers in order to maintain our existing fleet. If we are unable to continue to
attract a sufficient number of drivers, we could be required to adjust our compensation packages or operate with fewer pieces of
equipment and face difficulty meeting shipper demands, all of which would adversely affect our growth and profitability. In addition, the
compensation we offer our driver force is subject to market forces, and we may find it necessary to continue to increase their
compensation in future periods. Any increase in our operating costs could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

DEPENDENCE ON KEY MANAGEMENT; LOSS OF KEY MANAGEMENT COULD HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE
EFFECT ON OPERATIONS
We believe that the attraction and retention of qualified personnel is critical to our success. If we lose key personnel or are unable to
recruit qualified personnel, the ability to manage the day-to-day aspects of the business will be weakened. Our operations and prospects
depend in large part on the performance of the senior management
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team. The loss of the services of one or more members of the senior management team could have a materially adverse effect on the
business, financial condition and results of operations. Because the management team has extensive experience within the transportation
industry, it would be difficult to replace them without adversely effecting our business operations. In addition to their unique experience,
our management team has fostered key relationships with our customers and suppliers. These relationships are especially important to
our Company and the loss of these relationships could have a materially adverse effect on our profitability.

INSURANCE AND CLAIMS EXPENSE MAY NEGATIVELY IMPACT OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Our future insurance and claims expenses may exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. We maintain general
liability, auto liability, cargo, physical damage, trailer interchange, inland marine, contents, workers’ compensation, excess auto, general
liability and director’s and officer’s insurance policies for certain types of risks. Some of these policies are written with deductibles
currently up to $25,000 per occurrence. We reserve for anticipated losses and expenses and regularly evaluate and adjust our claims
reserves to reflect actual experience. However, ultimate results may differ from our estimates, which could result in losses above reserved
amounts. Because of our deductibles, we have significant exposure to fluctuations in the number and severity of claims. Our operating
results could be adversely affected if we experience an increase in the frequency and severity of claims for which we maintain higher
deductible policies, accruals of significant amounts within a given period, or claims proving to be more severe than originally assessed.
We maintain health insurance policies for our employees that have historically provided first-dollar coverage. Going forward, we
plan to self-insure our health claims and have those claims administered by a third-party. We plan to purchase stop-loss coverage to limit
our exposure on any one claim and aggregate coverage to limit the total claims expense within any one year. There can be no assurance that
the levels of specific stop-loss coverage purchased on a claim-by-claim basis or that the specific aggregate loss coverage purchased, will
provide a manageable means to control our health costs going forward.
We maintain coverage with insurance carriers that we believe are financially sound. Although we believe our aggregate insurance
limits are sufficient to cover reasonably expected claims, it is possible that one or more claims could exceed those limits. Insurance
carriers recently have been raising premiums for many businesses, including transportation companies. As a result, our insurance and
claims expense could increase, or we could find it necessary to raise our deductibles or decrease our aggregate coverage limits when our
policies are renewed or replaced. Our operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected if these expenses increase, if we
experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, or if we experience a claim for which we do not have coverage.

FLUCTUATIONS IN THE PRICE OR AVAILABILITY OF FUEL MAY CHANGE OUR OPERATIONS STRUCTURE
AND RESULTING PROFITABILITY
We require large amounts of fuel to operate our fleet, and fuel is one of our contractor’s largest operating expenses. Fuel prices
fluctuate greatly, and prices and availability of all petroleum products are subject to economic, political, and other market factors beyond
our control. Most of our customer contracts contain fuel surcharge provisions to mitigate the effects of price increases over base amounts
set in the contract. Significant changes in the price or availability of fuel in future periods or significant changes in our ability to mitigate
fuel price increases through the use of fuel surcharges, could materially adversely impact our operations, fleet capacity and ability to
generate both revenues and profits.

NEED FOR SUBSTANTIAL, ADDITIONAL FINANCING MAY NOT BE AVAILABLE, IF NEEDED, AND OUR
RESULTS COULD BE NEGATIVELY IMPACTED
There is no guarantee that we will be able to obtain financing if required to expand our business or that the present funding sources
will continue to extend terms under which we can operate efficiently. If we are unable to secure financing under favorable terms, our
Company may be negatively affected. There is no assurance that we will continue to be able to maintain financing on acceptable terms.
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VOLATILITY OF THE MARKET PRICE OF THE COMPANY’S STOCK CAN IMPACT OUR ABILITY TO RAISE
ADDITIONAL CAPITAL, IF NEEDED, AND IMPACTS OUR COMPENSATION EXPENSE
The market price of our common stock may be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline. Any of the
following factors could affect the market price of our common stock:

• Changes in earnings estimates and outlook by financial analysts;
• Our failure to meet financial analysts’ and investors’ performance expectations;
• Changes in market valuations of other transportation and logistics companies;
• General market and economic conditions; or
• Lower daily trading volume associated with a less followed stock, and the resulting impact on a stock’s liquidity.
In addition, many of the risks described elsewhere in this section could adversely affect the stock price. The stock markets have
experienced price and volume volatility that have affected many companies’ stock prices. Stock prices for many companies have
experienced wide fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of those companies. These types of fluctuations
may affect the market price of our common stock.
As a component of the calculations prescribed for use in the calculation of compensation expense to be recorded in Financial
Accounting Standard Statements Number 123R (SFAS 123R), volatility within the price of our common stock can impact the amount of
compensation expense recorded within our financial statements. We adopted SFAS 123R for periods beginning January 1, 2006 and
accordingly recorded compensation expense based in part upon the relative and historic volatility of our Company’s common stock in the
statement of income for periods beginning thereafter.

NO DIVIDENDS ANTICIPATED; COULD UNFAVORABLY IMPACT THE VALUE OF OURSTOCK TO INVESTORS
We have no immediate plans to pay dividends, and currently plan to retain all future earnings and cash flows for use in the
development of our business and to enhance shareholder value through growth and continued focus on increasing profitability.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our Common Stock in the near future.

ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Our executive offices are located within in an 880 square-foot leased office suite located at 3399 South Lakeshore Drive, Suite 225,
Saint Joseph, Michigan 49085. Within this same office building are common areas such as board and meeting rooms, multimedia
facilities and a lounge for visitors. In addition, the table below identifies other properties we maintain. We believe each of our properties is
appropriately specified and sized for the portion of our operations it houses.
Business Unit
L o c a t i o n

Express-1
Express-1
Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated

Concert Group Logistics

Bounce Logistics
Closed Location (Note)

P u r p o s e

429 Post Road Buchanan,
MI 49127
441 Post Road Buchanan,
MI 49127
1311 W. Airport Road,
Swanton, OH 43558
15000B Highway 41 North,
Evansville,
IN 47725
1430 Branding Ave.
Suite 150, Downers Grove,
IL 60515
5838 W. Brick Road, South
Bend, IN 46628
9025 Boggy Creek Road,
Orlando,
Florida 32824

Unit headquarters and call

Square Feet

Owned or Leased

20,000

Owned

3,000

Owned

3,000

Leased

Unit headquarters and
cross-dock

15,000

Leased

Unit headquarters and

5,000

Leased

Unit headquarters and

1,000

Leased

general office
Location closed in 2004

10,000

Leased

center

Recruiting and training
center

Cross-dock

general office

Note: We continue to be obligated under a lease for this closed location on which we have negotiated a sub-lease agreement. The lease matures in June 2009, and
we have reserved what we believe to be an appropriate amount within our financial statements for the estimated amount of future payments.

ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of our
management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or liquidity. We maintain reserves for identified, claims within our financial statements. We cannot be assured that
the ultimate disposition of these claims will not be in excess of the reserves established.

ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITIES HOLDERS

None

PART II

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “XPO.” The table below sets forth the
high and low closing sales prices for the Company’s common stock for the quarters included within 2007 and 2006 and for the first few
months of 2008. Quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down commission, and may not represent actual
transactions.
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High

Low

$ 1.04
1.23
1.44
1.34

$0.69
0.91
1.09
1.15

1.58
1.47
1.39
1.36

1.24
1.26
1.21
1.09

1.26

0.98

2006

1st quarter
2nd quarter
3rd quarter
4th quarter
2007
1st quarter
2nd quarter
3rd quarter
4th quarter
2008

1st quarter (through March 17, 2008)

There are over 600 holders of record of the Company’s common stock, based upon data available to us from our proxy solicitor,
transfer agent and market maker for our common stock. The Company has never paid cash dividends on its common stock and intends
to keep future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of its business. Accordingly the Company does not anticipate that any cash
dividends will be paid in the near future. The Company’s future payment of dividends will depend on its earnings, capital requirements,
expansion plans, financial condition and other relevant factors.
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Performance Graph
The following graph is presented to compare the cumulative total return for the Corporation’s Common Stock to the cumulative total
returns of the AMEX Composite Index, the Russell Micro Cap Index and the NASDAQ Transportation Index for the period from
July 26, 2002 (the start of trading for the stock of our Corporation), through the close of the market on December 31, 2007, assuming an
investment of $100 was made in the Corporation’s Common Stock and in each index on July 26, 2002, and that all dividends were
reinvested.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc, The Amex Composite Index,
The Russell MicroCap Index And The Nasdaq Transportation Index

* $100 invested on 12/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table sets forth information, as of December 31, 2007, with respect to the Company’s stock option plan under which
common stock is authorized for issuance, as well as other compensatory options granted outside of the Company’s stock option plan.
(c)

(b)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

(a)

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders

Number of Securities to
be Issued upon Exercise
of Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance under
Equity Compensation
Plan (Excluding
Securities Reflected in
Column (a))

1,213,000

$

1.75

—

3,066,000
4,279,000

$

1.22
1.37

2,534,000
2,534,000
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below for, and as of the end of, each of the years in the five-year period ended
December 31, 2007 is derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007 and the independent registered public
accountants’ reports thereon, are included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. This data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. All data expressed in the table is expressed in thousands
except for earnings per share data.
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

$52,789
3,471
2,171
$
0.08

$ 42,191
2,776
3,904
$ 0.15

$39,848
(5,815)
(5,815)
$ (0.22)

$ 42,481
(5,159)
(3,238)
$ (0.14)

$ 14,688
177

$

$

$

$

$ 2,029

Consolidated Statements of Earnings Data:
Operating revenue
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Net earnings (loss) (Note)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term obligations, less current portion

800

3,781
23,724
650

79
2,248
21,609
1,401

386
1,342
18,454
2,787

854
3,714
25,065
575

377

$

0.04

3,437

12,982
802

Note — The Company recorded the following income tax provision (benefit) during the years ended December 31, 2003 through
2007: In 2003 a tax benefit of $26,000, in 2004 a tax benefit of $1,921,000, in 2005 no tax provision or benefit, in 2006 a tax benefit of
$1,128,000, and in 2007 a tax provision of $1,300,000. Tax provisions reduced net income in the years recorded whereas tax benefits
increased net income in the years recorded. The Company estimated its net operating loss carryforwards to be approximately $5.4 million
as of December 31, 2007, and plans to record a provision for current taxes within its financial statements at the approximate rate of
39.5% of pre-tax income on a prospective basis.

In 2004, the Company implemented a restructuring plan to eliminate previously acquired unprofitable business units and operations.
In conjunction with this plan, the Company recorded approximately $4.5 million and $2.6 million in restructuring expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

In January 2008, the Company purchased substantially all assets and certain liabilities of Concert Group Logistics, LLC. The
acquisition is substantial and is more fully described in Item 1 and within Item 8 (Footnote 13) of this report.

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This discussion is intended to further the reader’s understanding of our Company’s financial condition and results of operations
and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere herein. This discussion
also contains forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of the risks and uncertainties set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our other SEC filings. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. We are not a party to
any transactions that would be considered “off balance sheet” pursuant to disclosure requirements under ITEM 303(c).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. and all of its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been
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eliminated in consolidation. Our Company does not have any variable interest entities whose financial results are not included in the
consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the periods. Our management reviews these estimates, including but not limited to, purchased
transportation, recoverability of long-lived assets, recoverability of prepaid expenses, valuation of investments, valuation allowances for
deferred taxes, and allowance for doubtful accounts, on a regular basis and makes adjustments based on historical experiences and
existing and expected future conditions. These evaluations are performed and adjustments are made as information is available. Our
management believes that these estimates are reasonable and have been discussed with our audit committee; however, actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Concentration of Risk
Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, are cash and cash equivalents and account
receivables.
The majority of cash is maintained with a Michigan financial institution. Deposits with this bank may exceed the amount of
insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand, and, therefore, bear minimal risk.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to our large number of customers and wide range of
industries and locations served. One customer comprised more than ten percent of the December 31, 2007 customer accounts receivable
balance.
We receive a significant portion of our revenue from customers who operate within the U.S. domestic automotive industry.
Accordingly, our accounts receivable are comprised of a large aggregate concentration of accounts from within this industry. Recently, the
U.S. automotive industry has been in decline according to various sources. In the event of further financial erosion by any of the “Big
Three” domestic automotive manufacturers, the effect on our Company could be materially adverse. Further, the weakening of any of the
domestic automotive manufacturers can have an adverse effect on a significant portion of our customer base which is comprised in largepart by manufacturers and suppliers for the automotive industry.

We extend credit to various customers based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and their ability to pay in
accordance with our payment terms. We provide for estimated losses on accounts receivable considering a number of factors, including
the overall aging of account receivables, customers payment history and the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation. Based upon
our managements’ review of accounts receivable and other receivables, an allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $77,000 is
considered necessary as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. Although we believe our account receivables are recorded at their net realizable
value, a decline in our historical collection rate could have a materially adverse effect on our operations and net income. We do not accrue
interest on past due receivables.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
For financial reporting purposes, we recognize four business segments which represent our operating units. These operations are
focused within four unique non-asset based premium transportation markets. Two of these operating units, Express-1 and Express-1
Dedicated, contributed to the overall financial results for 2007, 2006 and 2005. Two of our other business units, Concert Group Logistics
and Bounce Logistics, became part of our operations, subsequent to December 31, 2007. The results of these new operations will be
included in subsequent reports.
Express-1 generates revenue by accepting freight from a multitude of customers and industries, while Express-1 Dedicated primarily
operates under a dedicated service contract with one customer. For 2007, Express-1 provided
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approximately 90% of our consolidated revenues by volume, with Express-1 Dedicated accounting for approximately 10%.

Our Express-1 unit has two differing means of generating revenues and business volume. Express-1 transports shipments through
the use of its fleet of vehicles, approximately 99% of which are owned and operated by independent contract drivers. We refer to this
revenue source as “Express-1 Contractors.” Express-1 also routinely brokers loads to third parties such as to other expedited
transportation companies and general truckload carriers. We refer to this revenue source as “Express-1 Brokerage.” These two activities
are integral to the Express-1 operations and are managed by the same staff and support team. Therefore they cannot be further detailed
beyond revenue, operating costs and gross margin.
Our Express-1 Dedicated operation generates revenue by shipments primarily to one dedicated contract account. We refer to this
revenue source as “Express-1 Dedicated” within our tables and discussions.

In addition to our Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated business segments, we also separately identify the costs associated with our
executive management team, board of directors, legal and other costs of operating as a public company under the caption “Corporate.”
We refer to the impact of fuel on our business throughout this discussion and within the annual report. For purposes of these
references, we have only considered the impact of fuel surcharge revenues, fuel surcharge payments to contractors and fuel costs
associated with our operating units and have excluded those associated with our Express-1 brokerage operations. We feel that this
approach most readily conveys the impact of fuel on our business, its revenues and costs. As is common within the freight brokerage
industry, fuel cost is not frequently identified as an individual line item in our paperwork for each load. Consequently, it is impossible to
accurately separate fuel revenues and costs from other brokerage revenues and costs on a load-by-load basis.

Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to year ended December 31, 2006
Overview
The fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 brought with it many challenges within the general freight market, some of which had an
impact upon the operational results of our Company. Overall, freight demand was weaker than over the past few years and the result was
softness in spot markets for freight services and weakness in overall rates. Fuel continued to rise in 2007, compared to 2006 and with
this increase our revenues were increased through fuel surcharges, while our costs were increased by a similar amount due to our practice
of passing along fuel surcharges to our fleet of contract drivers.

Our Express-1 unit successfully increased its fleet by a significant amount and balanced this increase with the maintenance of very
strong fleet utilization as measured in loaded miles per unit per week. The success of this increase in the size of the Express-1 fleet offset
some declines in the percentage of overall margin, which is attributable to the weakened economy, increased fuel surcharges and lack of
spot market demand for “capacity expedites” that were common over the previous few years. Coupled with an increase of new accounts
and additional business volume from existing accounts, Express-1 weathered the down year by growing the top line at a healthy rate and
increasing its operating income at an even higher rate.
Our Express-1 Dedicated unit saw 2007 as a year of significant change. The original four-year contract with the primary customer
came to an end in April 2007 and Express-1 Dedicated was successful in its bid to get the contract term extended and increase rates to its
customer. Express-1 Dedicated now operates under an evergreen provision of the original agreement, which provides for a 120 day notice
in the event either party wishes to cease the relationship. In addition, Express-1 Dedicated was successful in receiving certain protections
for items such as investments in equipment and facility leases. Express-1 Dedicated also experienced growth in its non-contract business
of offering cross-docking facilities and regional transits. Combined with the contract modifications, the Express-1 Dedicated team has
successfully strengthened both the top and bottom lines during 2007 and set the stage for further improvements heading into 2008.
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Revenues
Revenues

Express-1 contractors
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 dedicated
Total revenues

2007

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2006
Change

$ 42,025,000
5,688,000

$ 29,922,000
7,405,000

47,713,000

37,327,000
4,864,000
$ 42,191,000

5,076,000
$ 52,789,000

$

12,103,000
(1,717,000 )
10,386,000
212,000

$ 10,598,000

% Change

40.4%
(23.2)%
27.8%
4.4%
25.1%

Consolidated Revenues increased 25.1% for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006.
The increase in revenue primarily relates to the strong increase in revenue within our Express-1 unit. Fuel surcharge revenue was
$4.8 million and $3.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Fuel surcharges are billed to our customers,
based upon a spread above a national index which is published weekly by the Department of Energy.

Express-1 Revenues increased 27.8% during 2007 compared to 2006. The increase in revenue was associated with a strong increase
in the amount of freight hauled on our fleet of vehicles provided by independent contractors. Express-1 was successful in increasing its
fleet size by approximately 38 percent within 2007 compared to 2006. With this added capacity, our team successfully leveraged organic
growth opportunities and expanded market share with existing customers as well as acquired new customer accounts. We continued to
experience a decline in the opportunity to broker loads within the truckload (semi-truck) portion of our business. This decline first
occurred in the third quarter of 2006 and is attributable to weakness in the U.S. economy resulting in excess capacity within the
truckload market. Our strategy continues to be to build our own fleet of vehicles and offer services through this fleet, but to be in a
position to take advantage of the brokerage opportunity in stronger economic climates or periods when demand outpaces capacity. We
internally refer to these shipments as “capacity expedites.” Fuel surcharge revenue was $4.2 million during 2007 compared to
$2.6 million in 2006, and is included within our revenue figures.
Express-1 Dedicated Revenues increased 4.4% in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the prior year. The revenue
increase is attributable to an increase in revenue from new customers within this market, and to rate increases awarded by the contract
customer in the latter half of 2007. The ability to attract new accounts for service at the facility continues to be a focus of the staff at
Express-1 Dedicated and enhances the overall profitability of the segment. Fuel surcharge revenue represented $588,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared to $528,000 in 2006.

Operating Expenses
Operating Expenses

Express-1 contractors
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Total operating expenses

2007

$

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2006
Change

31,240,000
4,711,000

$ 21,460,000
5,978,000

35,951,000
3,960,000
$ 39,911,000

27,438,000

3,958,000
$ 31,396,000

$ 9,780,000
(1,267,000 )
8,513,000
2,000

$ 8,515,000

% Change

45.6%
(21.2)%
31.0%
0.1%
27.1%

Consolidated Operating Expenses , which consist primarily of payment for trucking services, independent contractors, fuel,
insurance, cross dock facilities, equipment costs and payroll expenses increased by 27.1% for the year ended December 31, 2007
compared to the year ended December 31, 2006. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses amounted to 75.6% of related revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared with 74.4% for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in operating expenses as
a percentage of revenue resulted from rate compression within the spot market for some of our services. To some degree, fuel prices
contributed to the increase in operating expenses as a percentage of revenue. During 2007, fuel costs and fuel surcharge payments were
$5.1 million compared to $3.5 million in 2006.
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Express-1 Operating Expenses increased by 31.0% during 2007 compared to the prior year. Historically, a level of approximately
75% of revenue for operating expenses has been considered favorable within our Express-1 unit. Operating expenses represented 75.3%
and 73.5% of revenues within Express-1 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively. Fuel played a part in the ratio of
operating expenses to revenue for 2007 compared to 2006. Fuel costs and fuel surcharges passed to our contract drivers represented
approximately $4.1 million and $2.5 million of operating expenses for 2007 and 2006 respectively.
Express-1 Dedicated Operating Expenses increased by less than 1.0% for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2007. The Express-1 Dedicated team successfully held equipment costs, insurance expenses, wages and benefits inline with the levels from 2006. Express-1 Dedicated continued to enjoy a more favorable cost structure on non-contract services provided
to customers in 2007. Fuel cost represented $968,000 and $944,000 within this operation for the years of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Gross Margin
Gross Margin

Express-1 contractors
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Total gross margin

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2006
Change

2007

$ 10,785,000
977,000
11,762,000
1,116,000
$ 12,878,000

$

8,462,000
1,427,000
9,889,000
906,000
$ 10,795,000

$ 2,323,000
(450,000)

1,873,000
210,000
$ 2,083,000

% Change

27.5%
(31.5)%
18.9%
23.2%
19.3%

Consolidated Gross Margin increased by 19.3% and represented approximately 24.4% of consolidated revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2007 versus 25.6% of consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. The change in gross margin as a
percentage of revenue was partially due to the aforementioned weakness in freight rates. Mitigating this decline in rates, were
improvements in equipment cost within the Express-1 Dedicated business unit. Rising fuel costs also contributed to the decline in gross
margin as a percentage of revenue during the 2007 period.
Express-1 Gross Margin increased by 18.9% and represented 24.7% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to
26.5% of revenues for the prior year. The decline in gross margin as a percentage of revenue was partially due to softness in rates within
components of Express-1 revenue during the 2007 period. As previously mentioned this was due to overall weakness in portions of the
U.S. economy and the impact of this weakness on available capacity within the transportation sectors. Gross margin was also impacted
by the rising price of fuel in 2007 versus 2006.
Express-1 Dedicated Gross Margin increased by 23.2% and represented 22.0% of revenue for 2007, versus 18.6% for the prior
year. The increase in margin within this unit was principally due to rate increases awarded on the primary contract and was further
impacted by a reduction in equipment costs as a percentage of revenue within this unit. Fuel cost also impacted the margin within
Express-1 Dedicated.
Sales, General and Administrative Expenses
Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

2007

$ 7,237,000
525,000
1,645,000
$ 9,407,000

Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Corporate
Total sales general and administrative expenses

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2006
Change

$5,998,000
676,000
1,345,000
$ 8,019,000

$ 1,239,000
(151,000)
300,000

$ 1,388,000

% Change

20.7%
(22.3)%
22.3%
17.3%

Note: For purposes of this schedule and our analysis, interest and other charges have been included in the total Corporate SG&A figures. For the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, interest and other charges totaled $65,000 and $411,000 of expense, respectively.
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Consolidated Sales, General and Administrative Expenses (SG&A) increased by 17.3% and represented 17.8% of revenue during
the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 19.0% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. In each of our operating units
and within our corporate expenses, we continue to be successful in holding the rates of increase in these charges below the rates of increase
in revenue, thereby creating leverage. Our consolidated headcount was unchanged at the end of the 2007 compared to the end of 2006.
Remaining at 133 associates at the end of each period, we did experience an increase in headcount within Express-1 but had a decrease
within Express-1 Dedicated for the same periods. We continue to anticipate achieving more leverage going forward in our SG&A expense,
since the largest component of these charges, wage expense, should continue to increase at a slower pace than that of our consolidated
revenue.
Express-1 Selling, General and Administrative Expense increased by 20.7% during 2007, and represented 15.2% of revenues
within this business unit for 2007 versus 16.1% of revenue for 2006. The increase in SG&A was primarily related to headcount
additions, as the unit increased the number of full-time employees to handle the growth in fleet and business volume during 2007.
Express-1 also experienced increases within its advertising and marketing line items as it began to roll out new initiatives such as
expanded service to Mexico and incurred increased advertising costs associated with the 38% growth within its fleet of contract drivers.
Communication costs also increased in relationship to this fleet growth as the cost of satellites, satellite recovery, repairs and satellite
communications all increased within 2007 in response to the fleet growth. The ability of the Express-1 team to manage increases in
revenue, while holding down SG&A cost as a percentage of revenue remains one of the core goals and biggest opportunities within this
unit. All employees of Express-1 are provided some form of incentive that rewards successful increases in the fleet and revenue, resulting
in improvements in the bottom line.
Express-1 Dedicated Selling, General and Administrative Expense decreased by 22.3% during 2007 compared to 2006 and
represented 10.3% of revenues for 2007 versus 13.9% in the prior year. Due to some routing changes within the core customer, Express-1
Dedicated reduced its headcount and associated wages and benefits during 2007 versus 2006. This unit also experienced decreases in
expense associated with the elimination of amortization on its original start-up. We anticipate Express-1 Dedicated SG&A expenses will be
relatively flat going forward, based upon our belief that the growth rate in revenue will also be relatively flat.

Corporate General and Administrative Expense increased by 22.3% during 2007 and represented 3.1% of consolidated revenue
for 2007 versus 3.2% of consolidated revenue for 2006. The largest components of the increase in cost were charges associated with
locations closed down in the restructuring activities. During 2006, the Company recovered approximately $170,000 from previously
written down account receivables from closed operations. During 2007, the Company incurred additional impairments on a remaining
Orlando office lease remaining from a closed location. This swing from a recovery in 2006 to a charge in 2007 accounts for most of the
increase during 2007. The Company also incurred increases from additional option expense associated with FAS 123R, additional
compensation and benefits costs and increased expenses associated with its Board of Directors and operating as a public company.
Net Income (Loss) From Operations
Income From Operations

Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Corporate
Total income from operations
Tax Provision (Benefit)
Total net income

2007

$ 4,525,000
591,000
(1,645,000 )
3,471,000
1,300,000
$ 2,171,000

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2006
Change

$ 3,891,000
230,000

$

$

634,000
361,000

(1,345,000 )

(300,000)

2,776,000
(1,128,000 )

695,000

3,904,000

(2,428,000 )
$ (1,733,000 )

% Change

16.3%
157.0%
22.3%
25.0%
215.3%
(44.4)%

Consolidated Income from Operations increased by 25.0% during 2007 versus the prior year which reflects some of the operating
leverage we have discussed over the past few years. During 2007, as our margin declined, we successfully increased pre-tax earnings at a
rate equivalent to the rate of increase in revenue, due to our leverage within the areas of SG&A. Increases in revenue have traditionally
been greater than the corresponding increases in
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our overhead costs. We continue to believe additional leverage can be achieved in the future and operating income can continue to increase
at a rate higher than that of our consolidated revenue.

Express-1 Income from Operations improved by 16.3% during 2007 and represented 9.5% of revenue in 2007 versus 10.4% of
revenue in 2006. During the year, Express-1 invested in programs such as its Mexican operations that are anticipated to have a greater
impact on earnings in 2008 and beyond. Express-1 also invested in its team of associates by enhancing staffing levels within operational
areas and training within all areas. Coupled with this investment in operational programs and personnel, Express-1 continued to face
softness in the rate environment. The management team believes the investments made in 2007 will help sustain the growth goals of this
unit for 2008 and beyond. As the economy recovers, Express-1 should be positioned to continue to grow at historical levels, and realize
more operating leverage.
Express-1 Dedicated Income from Operations increased by 157.0% during 2007 and represented 11.6% of revenue in 2007
versus 4.7% of revenue in 2006. The rate increases awarded by the primary customer in this unit were instrumental in this turn around.
Coupled with these rate increases, Express-1 Dedicated continued to grow its profitable non-contract business during the year. The cost of
operating the equipment used within this operation continued to decease both in total dollars and as a percentage of revenue during 2007
compared to 2006. The ability of the Express-1 Dedicated team to continue to hold cost relatively flat as a percentage of revenue is critical
to the continuation of the recent level of profitability in this unit, as the ability to increase revenues is more limited.
Provision for, Benefit from Income Tax
During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a provision for current income taxes of $1.3 million compared to recording a
tax benefit of $1.1 million for 2006. For 2007, we continued to use our net operating loss carry forwards (NOL’s) to reduce the amount of
taxes paid, even though a current income tax provision was recorded within the financial statements. As of December 31, 2007, we
estimate our NOL’s have been reduced to $5.4 million and we do not anticipate using a significant amount of cash for tax payments, until
these NOL’s are eliminated. We plan to record a current tax provision in our financial statements on a prospective basis at the rate of
approximately 39.5% of pre-tax income, which we refer to as income from operations. A more detailed discussion of our tax situation is
provided within the notes to our financial statements, elsewhere in this report.

Net Income (Loss)
Net Income declined in 2007, versus 2006 due to the aforementioned recording of a tax provision in 2007 versus a tax benefit in
2006. Pretax income increased by 25.0% during the period, which we feel is a more accurate reflection of our operating results, due to the
evolution of our earnings and income associated tax provisions and benefits.

Earnings per Share
Basic Earnings per Share was $0.08 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $0.15 per share for the year ended
December 31, 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2007, basic average shares outstanding were 26,690,382 compared to 26,297,120
for the year ended December 31, 2006.
Diluted Earnings per Share was $0.08 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $0.15 per share for the year ended
December 31, 2006. For purposes of calculating earnings per share, for the year ended December 31, 2007, diluted average shares
outstanding were 27,326,729 compared to 26,641,012 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005
Tables presented for use in the comparison of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are modified from those presented for
use in the comparison of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The modifications are related to the identification of locations
closed in conjunction with our restructuring plan which was implemented within 2004 and completed in 2005, which are identified as
“closed locations” and to the charges associated with the restructuring activities. It is our belief that this added detail for the 2006 and
2005 periods allows the users of these
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statements more transparency into the performance of the Company and its operating units in place during those periods.

Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2005
Change

2006

Express-1 contractor
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Closed locations
Total revenues

$ 29,921,000
7,405,000
37,326,000
4,864,000
1,000

$ 42,191,000

$ 23,951,000
6,716,000
30,667,000
4,465,000
4,716,000
$ 39,848,000

$ 5,970,000
689,000
6,659,000
399,000
(4,715,000 )
$ 2,343,000

% Change

24.9%
10.3%

21.7%
8.9%
(100.0)%

5.9%

Consolidated Revenues increased 5.9% for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005.
The increase in revenue primarily relates to the strong increase in revenue within our Express-1 business, and was mitigated by revenue
recorded in the prior year, from within operations closed in our restructuring efforts. During 2005, we disposed of our Temple and Bullet
operations, as well as ceased activity at our unprofitable Tampa brokerage. These closed locations accounted for $4.7 million of our
consolidated revenue during the year ended December 31, 2005. Fuel surcharge revenue was $3.2 million and $2.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Express-1 Revenues increased 21.7% during 2006 as compared to 2005. Most of the increase in revenue was associated with the
contractor portion of our Express-1 operations, which represents the freight hauled on our fleet of independent contractor trucks. Express1 was successful in increasing its fleet size by approximately 23 percent within 2006 compared to 2005. With this added capacity, we
successfully leveraged our organic growth opportunities and expanded our market share with existing customers as well as acquired new
customer accounts. In the second half of 2006, we experienced a decline in the number of loads available to be brokered within the
truckload portion (class 8, semi-trucks) of our brokerage operations, as a result of a weakening within the overall U.S. freight economy
and excess capacity within the truckload market. Fuel surcharge revenue was $2.6 million during 2006 as compared to $2.3 million in
2005, and is included within our revenue figures.
Express-1 Dedicated Revenues increased 8.9% in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year. The revenue
increase within Express-1 Dedicated was primarily attributable to an increase of $0.2 million in revenue from new customers within this
market. The primary contract customer in this unit experienced an increase of less than 2% in revenue for the period. Express-1 Dedicated
recorded $528,000 in fuel surcharges for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $420,000 in fuel surcharges for the year earlier.

Operating Expenses
2006

Express-1 contractor
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Closed locations
Total operating expenses

$ 21,371,000
5,978,000
27,349,000
3,958,000
89,000
$ 31,396,000

Year Ended December 31,
2005
Change

$ 17,498,000
5,119,000
22,617,000
4,010,000

4,225,000
$ 30,852,000

$

3,873,000

859,000
4,732,000
(52,000)
(4,136,000 )
$
544,000

% Change

22.1%
16.8%
20.9%
(1.3)%

(97.9)%
1.8%

Consolidated Operating Expenses , which consist primarily of payment for trucking services, independent contractors, fuel,
insurance, cross dock facilities, equipment costs and payroll expenses increased by 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to the year ended December 31, 2005. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses amounted to 74.4% of related revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2006 compared with
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77.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease in operating expenses as a percentage of revenue resulted primarily from the
cessation of our unprofitable businesses in conjunction with our restructuring plan during 2005. During 2006, fuel costs and fuel
surcharge payments were $3.5 million compared to $3.3 million in 2005. Exclusive of these fuel costs and payments, operating expenses
decreased as a percentage of revenue, during 2006.

Express-1 Operating Expenses increased by 20.9% during 2006 compared to the prior year. As a percentage of revenue, operating
expenses decreased by less than 1% during the year. Operating expenses are primarily variable costs associated with the cost of contractor
payments, fuel and insurance and the ability to hold these at a comparable rate of revenue between periods is essential to maintaining our
margins. Operating expenses represented 73.3% and 73.8% of revenues for Express-1 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
respectively. Fuel costs and fuel surcharges passed to our contract drivers represented approximately $2.5 million and $2.5 million of
operating expenses for 2006 and 2005 respectively.
Express-1 Dedicated Operating Expenses decreased by 1.3% for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005. The decrease was due primarily to the implementation of more stringent maintenance practices and management
policy on equipment utilized within the this operation. Coupled with this was a switch from the use of outside contract carriers to provide
shipment services to the use of company owned or leased trucks. Express-1 Dedicated also enjoyed more favorable margins on the new
revenue streams developed within the local market than that realized from its primary customer contract. The addition of this new
business and the associated margin helped lower the operating expenses as a percentage of revenue considerably, within the year.

Gross Margin
2006

Express-1 contractor
Express-1 brokerage
Total Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Closed locations
Total gross margin

$

8,550,000
1,427,000
9,977,000
906,000
(88,000)

$ 10,795,000

Year Ended December 31,
2005
Change

$ 6,453,000
1,597,000
8,050,000
455,000
491,000

$8,996,000

$ 2,097,000
(170,000)

1,927,000
451,000
(579,000)
$1,799,000

% Change

32.5%
(10.6)%
23.9%
99.1%
(117.9)%
20.0%

Consolidated Gross Margin increased by 20.0% and represented approximately 25.6% of consolidated revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to 22.6% of consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005. The improvement was partially
due to the closing of lower-margin locations and operations in conjunction with our restructuring efforts during 2005. Additionally, some
changes in the management philosophy and use of equipment within our Express-1 Dedicated operations coupled with the addition of
some new local accounts greatly improved the margin derived from the Evansville operations. Fuel costs and surcharges had the effect of
lowering the gross margin for the company. Exclusive of the impact of fuel surcharges the gross margin as a percentage of consolidated
revenue was 71.6% and 74.4% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Express-1 Gross Margin increased by 23.9% and represented 26.7% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared
to 26.2% of revenues for the prior year. The improvement in gross margin as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to decreases in
fuel costs. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue within the Express-1 brokerage operations declined due to the weakness of the
transportation market in the second half of 2006.
Express-1 Dedicated Gross Margin increased by 99.1% and represented 18.6% of revenue for 2006, versus 10.2% for the prior
year. The increase in margin within Express-1 Dedicated was principally due to a shift from the use of independent contractor leased units
to company owned or leased trucks within this market, coupled with a reduction in maintenance charges associated with a change in
maintaining equipment. This unit also benefited greatly due to the introduction of additional revenue streams and the stronger gross
margin associated with those
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revenues compared to the margin available from its contract customer. Fuel cost also played a part in the change in margin.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2005
Change

2006

Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Closed locations
Corporate
Subtotal sales general and administrative expenses
Reorganization cost
Total sales general and administrative expenses

$5,998,000
676,000
(167,000)
1,512,000
8,019,000
—
$ 8,019,000

$

5,999,000
598,000
1,287,000
2,479,000

10,363,000
4,448,000
$ 14,811,000

$

(1,000)
78,000
(1,454,000 )

(967,000)
(2,344,000 )
(4,448,000 )

$ (6,792,000)

% Change

0.0%
13.0%
(113.0)%
(39.0)%
(22.6)%
(100.0)%
(45.9)%

Note: For purposes of this schedule and our analysis, interest and other charges have been included in the total Corporate SG&A figures. For the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, interest and other charges represented approximately $411,000 and $187,000 of expenses, respectively.

Consolidated Sales, General and Administrative Expenses (SG&A) decreased by 45.9% and represented 19.0% of revenue
during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 37.2% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005. Of this decrease,
$5.9 million was associated with the operations closed in our restructuring activities and the charges associated with restructuring.
Within the remaining operations and corporate activities SG&A expenses declined by 9.8% to $8.2 million during 2006, from
$9.1 million in 2005. Most of this decline was associated with the closing of the offices in Tampa Florida and the relocation of those
administrative functions to Buchanan, Michigan.
Express-1 Selling, General and Administrative Expense at $6.0 million was essentially flat in 2006 compared to 2005. During
this same period, Express-1 increased it revenue by approximately 21.7%, which underscores the significant operating leverage within
this business segment. The ability of the personnel to manage increases in revenue, while holding down costs, underscores the
commitment and strength of the employees and operating model within this business segment.
Express-1 Dedicated Selling, General and Administrative Expense increased by 13.0% as a percentage of revenue during 2006
compared to 2005. Principal components of SG&A within Evansville include wages and benefits, depreciation, amortization, office
expenses and general supplies. The increase in SG&A was predominantly due to an increase in wages associated with the Evansville
personnel. We anticipate Evansville SG&A expense to be relatively flat going forward, based upon the likelihood that the growth rate in
revenue will also be relatively flat.
Net Income (Loss) From Operations
2006

Express-1
Express-1 Dedicated
Closed locations
Corporate
Subtotal income from operations
Reorganization cost
Total income (loss) from operations

$ 3,979,000
230,000

79,000
(1,512,000 )
2,776,000
—
$ 2,776,000
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Year Ended December 31,
2005
Change

$ 2,051,000

$ 1,928,000

% Change

(143,000)

373,000

(796,000)
(2,479,000 )
(1,367,000 )
(4,448,000 )
$ (5,815,000)

875,000
967,000

94.0%
260.8%
109.9%
39.0%

4,143,000
4,448,000

303.1%
0.0%

$8,591,000

147.7%
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Consolidated Income from Operations became positive during 2006, as we completed the restructuring of our organization and
focused our company on non-asset based premium transportation services. The primary component of the change was the elimination of
approximately $5.2 million of charges and expenses associated with restructuring activity and unprofitable business units. Coupled with
this was a significant reduction in Corporate expenses, where the total expense decreased by $1.0 million to $1.5 million in 2006 from
$2.5 million in 2005. Most of this reduction was associated with a change in our executive management and the associated relocation of
our corporate offices from Tampa, Florida to Buchanan, Michigan. These reductions, along with improvements in margin within the
Express-1 and Evansville operations resulted in the improvement within our income from operations.

Express-1 Income from Operations improved by 94.0% during 2006, as compared to 2005. The principal factors in this change
were the increase in revenues and continued strong margin, coupled with the ability to hold SG&A expenses relatively flat. The
significance of operating leverage within Express-1 facilitated this increase in income from operations.
Express-1 Dedicated Income from Operations became positive during 2006 compared to a loss from operations during 2005. The
principal factors contributing to this increase were the increases in revenue from newly acquired non-contract accounts and the stronger
margin attributable to those, coupled with a reduction in the costs of transportation expenses within the contract portion of business. To a
lesser extent the ability to hold SG&A increases to a relatively small amount also contributed to this shift in operating income.
Provision for, Benefit from Income Tax
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded a benefit of $1.1 million for income taxes as opposed to no provision for,
nor benefit from, income taxes during 2005. Based upon the fact that our consolidated operations had been unprofitable, the likelihood of
generating profits and utilizing additional tax benefits against future earnings was determined to be less than assured. Consequently, we
did not record a tax benefit associated with the pretax net loss of $5.8 million during 2005. During 2006, based upon the successful
completion of the restructuring efforts and the return of profitability to our remaining consolidated operations, we reevaluated the valuation
allowance and reduced it by approximately $2.1 million. The difference between the $2.1 million valuation allowance adjustment and the
$1.1 million tax benefit recorded is due to a provision for income taxes on 2006 earnings of approximately $1.0 million.

Net Income (Loss)
Net Income became positive during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to a net loss during the year ended December 31,
2005. For the year we earned $3.9 million compared to a net loss of $5.8 million during 2005.

Earnings per Share
Basic Earnings per Share was $0.15 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to a loss of $0.22 per share for the year
ended December 31, 2005. For the year ended December 31, 2006, basic average shares outstanding were 26,297,120 compared to
26,523,650 for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Diluted Earnings per Share was $0.15 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to a loss of $0.22 per share for the year
ended December 31, 2005. For purposes of calculating earnings per share, for the year ended December 21, 2006, diluted average shares
outstanding were 26,641,012 compared to 26,523,650 for the year ended December 31, 2005. For purposes of these calculations,
diluted shares outstanding were the same as basic shares outstanding during 2005, due to the loss in 2005.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General
In January 2008, we completed the purchase of substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of Concert Group Logistics, LLC.
Total consideration given in the transaction included $9.0 million in cash and the issuance of $4.8 million shares of Express-1 Expedited
Solutions, Inc. common stock. This acquisition was financed with
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proceeds from our new line of credit facility. Our liquidity position changed significantly upon the completion of this purchase
transaction. Any analysis of our liquidity and capital resources should take into consideration the impact of this transaction upon our
overall cash flows and financial position. For more information on this transaction, please refer to Item 1 and to Item 8, Footnote 13
elsewhere within this report.

The impact of weakness within the economy within the United States upon our financial performance should also be considered
within an analysis of our liquidity and capital resources. Further discussion on the impact on the economy upon our operating results can
be found in Item 1A. and Item 7, within this report.

Cash Flow
As of December 31, 2007, we had $3,781,000 of working capital with associated cash and cash equivalents of $800,000 compared
with working capital of $2,248,000 and cash of $79,000 at December 31, 2006. This represents an increase of 68% or $1,533,000 in
working capital during the period. The improvement in working capital can be attributed to our non-asset and asset light business
models. Due to the low capital investment requirements within our operating segments, a large percentage of the cash flow generated from
operations can be used to reduce debt and increase cash, thereby helping to improve working capital within the organization.
During the year ended December 31, 2007, we generated $4,043,000 in cash from operations compared to $3,637,000 for the prior
year. Primary components of this increase were (i) an increase of approximately $646,000 in tax-adjusted net income (net income before
tax, less the amount of cash paid for income taxes), (ii) an increase in receivables and related provisions for doubtful accounts, and (iii) a
decrease in other assets, and in accrued expenses and other accruals.

Investing activities used approximately $2,293,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to our use of $2,516,000
on these activities during the prior year. Most of this cash was used to satisfy earn-out payments to the former owners of Express-1, Inc.
and Dasher Express, Inc. during both years. These payments totaled $1,960,000 and $1,710,000, respectively during 2007 and 2006,
respectively. In addition to these payments, we used $372,000 and $956,000, net of sales proceeds, on capital expenditure items, such as
satellite communications equipment for our fleet, computer software and related computer hardware, during the 2007 and 2006 periods
respectively. During 2007 and 2006, we received approximately $39,000 and $150,000 in proceeds from loans on former business units.

Financing activities used approximately $1,029,000 and $1,428,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively.
We reduced our outstanding debt balances by $1,319,000 and $1,428,000 for the 2007 and 2006, respectively. We also received
$290,000 from the exercise of warrants during the 2007 period.

Line of Credit
To ensure that our Company has adequate near-term liquidity, we entered into a new credit facility with National City Bank in
January, 2008. This $14.6 million facility provides for a receivables based line of credit of up to $11.0 million and a term debt
component of $3.6 million. The Company may draw upon the receivables based line of credit the lesser of $11.0 million or 80% of
eligible accounts receivables, less amounts outstanding under letters of credit. To fund the Concert Group Logistics, LLC purchase, the
Company drew down $3.6 million on the term facility and $5.4 million on the receivables based line of credit. Substantially all the assets
of our Company and wholly owned subsidiaries (Express-1, Inc., Express-1 Dedicated, Inc., Concert Group Logistics, Inc. and Bounce
Logistics, Inc.) are pledged as collateral securing our performance under the line. The line bears interest based upon a spread above
thirty-day LIBOR with an initial increment of 125 basis points above thirty-day LIBOR for the receivables line and 150 basis point
above thirty-day LIBOR for the term portion. The term loan amortizes over a thirty-six month period and requires that monthly principal
payments of $100,000 together with accrued interest be paid until retired. The weighted average initial rate of interest on the credit facility
was approximately 5.5% and rates are adjusted quarterly. Available capacity under the line was approximately $4.0 million as of
January 31, 2008. The credit facility carries an initial maturity date of June 30, 2009 and we anticipate renewing this facility prior to this
time.
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As of December 31, 2007, we had in place a line of credit facility originally entered in November 2005 with a Michigan banking
corporation (the “Bank”). Under the loan documents, we could draw down under this line of credit the lesser of $6,000,000 or 80% of the
eligible accounts receivable of Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated, plus $912,000. The additional $912,000 was available based upon
the granting of a security interest in our Buchanan, Michigan facilities. All advances under the agreement were subject to interest at the
rate of the Bank’s prime plus an applicable margin ranging from negative 0.50% to positive 0.25% based upon the performance of our
consolidated company in the preceding quarter. The maturity date of the loan was September 30, 2008 and the line contained various
covenants pertaining to the maintenance of certain financial ratios. As of December 31, 2007, we had available borrowing capacity of
approximately $4.9 million and an effective interest rate of 7.25% under the facility. We were in compliance with all terms and conditions
of the Bank agreement, as of December 31, 2007. This former line of credit was retired simultaneously with the execution of the
Company’s new credit facility in January 2008.
We believe that the new credit facility provides adequate capacity to fund our operations, when combined with our anticipated cash
generated from operations for the foreseeable future. In the event our operating performance deteriorates, we might find it necessary to seek
additional funding sources in the future.

We had outstanding standby letters of credit at December 31, 2007 of $411,000, related to insurance policies either continuing in
force or recently canceled. Amounts outstanding for letters of credit reduce the amount available under our line of credit, dollar-for-dollar.

Options and Warrants
We may receive proceeds in the future from the exercise of warrants and options outstanding as of December 31, 2007, in accordance
with the following schedule:
Approximate
Number of
Shares

Total Outstanding as of December 31, 2007:
Options granted within Stock Compensation Plan
Options granted outside Stock Compensation Plan(1)
Warrants issued

3,066,000
1,213,000
7,490,000
11,769,000

Approximate
Proceeds

$

3,747,000
2,123,000
11,410,000
$ 17,280,000

(1) Consists of options granted to sellers of Dasher Express, Inc. and Express-1, Inc. in conjunction with the purchase agreements for
these two acquisitions.

The following table is provided to allow the users of the financial statements more insight into different groupings of warrants and
options. The options and warrants reflected within this table are the same as those above with a different viewpoint. The table is designed
to reflect maturity date groupings in rows and ranges of exercise prices in columns.
< $1.00

Q1 2008
Q2 2008
Q3 2008
Q4 2008
Q1 2009
Q2 2009
Q3 2009
Q4 2009
Thereafter
Total

$1.00-$1.25

$1.26-$1.50

$1.51-$1.75

$1.76-$2.00

Over $2.00

50,000

1,213,000
2,707,000
8,000
25,000

1,325,000
1,248,000
660,000

10,000

1,793,000

575,000
575,000
575,000

1,085,000
3,875,000

465,000
4,273,000
30

Total

50,000
1,213,000
4,032,000
1,266,000
685,000
1,793,000
575,000

30,000

30,000

1,243,000

2,125,000
11,769,000

10,000

1,793,000
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Contractual Obligations
The table below reflects all contractual obligations of our Company as of December 31, 2007. Included within this table is the final
earn-out payment on the Dasher and Express-1 acquisitions. The amount was tied directly to the segment performance of Express-1 for
the full year of 2007.

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt capital lease obligations
Operating leases
Earn-out obligations
Real estate obligations(*)
Total contractual cash obligations

(*)

Total

$

84,000

61,000
2,210,000
680,000
$ 3,035,000

Payments Due by Period
Less than 1
1-3
3-5
Year
Years
Years

$

50,000
54,000
2,210,000
252,000

$ 34,000

$2,566,000

$ 450,000

More than 5
Years

7,000
409,000

$ 19,000
$ 19,000

In addition to real estate leases used in the Company’s current operations, included in this number is a real estate lease commitment
for property located on Boggy Creek Road in Orlando, Florida, net of estimated sublease proceeds. For further information on this
lease, see Item 2 Properties and Footnote 11 Commitments and Contingencies contained elsewhere in this report.

Acquisition of Concert Group Logistics
In January 2008, in conjunction with the purchase of the assets of Concert Group Logistics, LLC. The Company entered in a
commitment to pay the former owners of that company up to $2.0 million in additional consideration, provided the Company’s newly
formed subsidiary, Concert Group Logistics, Inc. meets certain performance targets during 2008 and 2009. This contingent payment will
be included in subsequent tables disclosing our contractual obligations and should be considered in analysis thereof. The Concert
transaction also contained a new operating lease for real property which will be reported in subsequent periods. For more information on
the Concert Transaction, please refer to Footnote 13 elsewhere in this report.
We may have to secure additional sources of capital to fund some portion of the contingent consideration payment as it becomes due.
This presents us with certain business risks relative to the availability and pricing of future fund raising, as well as the potential dilution
to our stockholders if the fund raising involves the sale of equity.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation Number (“FIN”) 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement N. 109”, (“FIN 48”) effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. FIN 48 specifies how tax benefits for uncertain tax positions are to be recognized, measured, and derecognized in
financial statements; requires certain disclosures of uncertain tax matters; specifies how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be
classified in the balance sheet; and provides transition and interim-period guidance, among other provisions. Management has reviewed
the provisions of FIN 48, analyzed the Company’s tax position in respect to the standards within FIN 48 and has concluded that no
adjustments to the financial statements are necessary based upon the adoption of this standard.
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157,” Fair Value Measurement”.
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
Where applicable, this statement simplifies and codifies related guidance with generally accepted accounting principles. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those years. We
are of the opinion that the adoption of this new pronouncement will not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”.
SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at
31

Table of Contents

fair value at specified election dates. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in
earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The fair value option may be applied instrument by instrument, with certain exceptions, is
irrevocable (unless a new election date occurs), and is applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments. SFAS 159 is
effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. We do not believe the adoption of SFAS 159 will have a material impact on our financial
statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”) which replaces SFAS 141,
“Business Combinations”. SFAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for determining how an enterprise recognizes and
measures the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, including noncontrolling interests, contingent
consideration, and certain acquired contingencies. SFAS 141R also requires acquisition-related transaction expenses and restructuring
costs be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as a component of the business combination. SFAS 141R will be applicable to the
Company prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009. SFAS 141R would have
an impact on accounting for any business acquired after the effective date of this pronouncement.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — An
Amendment of ARB No 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a
subsidiary (previously referred to as a minority interest). SFAS 160 also requires that a retained noncontrolling interest upon the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at its fair value. Upon adoption of SFAS 160, the Company would be required to
report any noncontrolling interests as a separate component of shareholder’s equity. The Company would also be required to present any
net income allocable to noncontrolling interests and net income allocable to the shareholders of the Company separately in its consolidated
statement of operations. SFAS 160 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2009. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the
presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All other requirements of SFAS 160 shall be applied
prospectively. SFAS 160 would have an impact on the presentation and disclosure of the noncontrolling interest of any non-wholly owned
business acquired in the future.

ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates on our bank line of credit which may adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition. We are also exposed to market risk changes in commodity prices.

Under Financial Accounting Reporting Release Number 48 and SEC rules and regulations, we are required to disclose information
concerning market risk with respect to foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and commodity prices. We have elected to make such
disclosures, to the extent applicable, using a sensitivity analysis approach, based on hypothetical changes in interest rates and
commodity prices.

We do not currently use derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes and do not use them for either speculation or
trading. Because our operations are confined to the United States or are denominated in U.S. currency, we are not currently subject to
foreign currency risk.

Market risk generally represents the risk of loss that may result from the potential change in value of a financial instrument as a
result of fluctuations in interest rates and market prices. We do not currently have any trading derivatives nor do we expect to have any in
the future. We have established policies and internal processes related to the management of market risks, which we use in the normal
course of our business operations.

Interest Rate Risk
From time-to-time we have interest rate risk, as borrowings under our credit facility are based on variable market interest rates. As of
December 31, 2007, we did not have any variable rate debt outstanding under our credit facility and consequently had only minimal
interest rate risk as of that date.

We completed the acquisition of Concert Group Logistics in January 2008, and to finance this transaction borrowed $9.0 million on
a new credit facility put in place to fund this purchase. The credit facility is subject to variable rates of interest and an adjustment of 1%
in the interest rate on this facility would result in a corresponding change in our annual pretax earnings of approximately $90,000.
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Intangible Asset Risk
We have a substantial amount of intangible assets including goodwill and are required to perform impairment tests whenever events
or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable from estimated future cash flows. As a result of our periodic
evaluations, we may determine that the intangible asset values need to be written down to their fair values, which could result in material
charges that could be adverse to our operating results and financial position. Although at December 31, 2007, we believed our intangible
assets were recoverable, changes in the economy, the business in which we operate and our own relative performance could change the
assumptions used to evaluate intangible asset recoverability. We continue to monitor those assumptions and their effect on the estimated
recoverability of our intangible assets.

Equity Price Risk
We do not own any equity investments other than in our subsidiaries. As a result, we do not currently have any operating equity
price risk. We have used the stock of our Company in transactions involving the purchase of business units and assets, as well as in
general fund raising activities. Fluctuations in the price of our own common stock, expose us to some risk in future transactions where
our stock is used as a medium of exchange.

Commodity Price Risk
We do not enter into contracts for the purchase or sale of commodities. As a result, we do not currently have any operating
commodity price risk. Commodity prices do impact our company in the form of prices for fuel used by our value providers and the
resulting impact of commodities such as fuel on the overall economy within the United States.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Financial Statements
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Tampa, Florida
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Pender Newkirk & Company LLP
Pender Newkirk & Company LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Tampa, Florida
March 26, 2008
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Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,

December 31,

2007

2006

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $77,000 for 2007 and 2006
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Deferred tax asset, current
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of $1,734,000 and $1,410,000 in accumulated depreciation, respectively

$

1,549,000
8,653,000
2,312,000
7,737,000
3,950,000

4,225,000

104,000
377,000

2,069,000

591,000
$ 23,724,000

$21,609,000

$

$ 1,034,000

492,000
149,000

Goodwill

Identified intangible assets, net of $1,279,000 and $1,004,000 in accumulated amortization,
respectively
Loans and advances
Deferred tax asset, long term
Other long term assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and wages
Accrued acquisition earnouts
Accrued expenses, other
Current maturities of long term debt
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Line of credit
Notes payable and capital leases, net of current maturities
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, $.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 27,008,768 and

26,516,037 shares issued and 26,828,768 and 26,336,037 shares outstanding

892,000
660,000
2,210,000
861,000
50,000
199,000
4,872,000

209,000

724,000

1,960,000
740,000

616,000
650,000
—

—

0

34,000

27,000

(2,870,000 )
(107,000)
18,202,000
$ 23,724,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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143,000

117,000
125,000
4,700,000
1,159,000
127,000
285,000
1,571,000

21,152,000

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock, at cost, 180,000 shares held
Total stockholders’ equity

$

79,000
5,354,000
265,000
181,000
1,069,000
6,948,000
2,488,000
5,527,000

800,000

5,663,000

27,000
20,459,000
(5,041,000 )
(107,000)
15,338,000
$21,609,000
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Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

December 31,

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

December 31,

2007

2006

2005

$ 52,789,000

$ 42,191,000

$ 39,848,000

39,911,000
12,878,000
9,342,000
—
—
65,000

31,396,000
10,795,000
7,608,000
—

Revenues
Operating revenue

Expenses
Operating expenses
Gross margin
Sales, general and administrative expense
Restructuring, exit and consolidation expense
Other expense
Interest expense
Income (loss) before income tax provision
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)

3,471,000
1,300,000
$ 2,171,000

Earnings per common share
Basic income (loss) per common share
Diluted income (loss) per common share
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

206,000
205,000

2,776,000
(1,128,000 )
$ 3,904,000

0.08
0.08

0.15
0.15

26,690,382
27,326,729

26,297,120
26,641,012

30,852,000
8,996,000
10,176,000
4,448,000
—
187,000
(5,815,000)
—
$ (5,815,000)
(0.22)
(0.22)

26,523,650
26,532,650

Included within the line item operating expenses is depreciation expense of $320,000 , $415,000 and $458,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Included within the line item sales, general and administrative expense is depreciation expense of $240,000 , $216,000 and
$475,000 and amortization expense of $283,000 , $423,000 and $502,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
respectively.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2007
Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance, December 31, 2004

Retirement of stock for payment of debt
Issuance of common stock for services
Issuance of ESOP shares
Retirement of stock from sale of business
Purchase of treasury stock
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2005
Issuance of stock for exercise of warrants
Issuance of ESOP shares
Stock option expense
Net income
Balance, December 31, 2006

Issuance of stock for exercise of warrants
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of ESOP shares
Stock option expense
Net income
Balance, December 31, 2007

26,727,034
(22,000)

$

27,000

Additional
Paid in

Treasury Stock
Shares
Amount

—

$

—

$

20,405,000

(265,000)

(1,000)

26,465,034

26,000

1,003
50,000

1,000

26,516,037
290,500

(3,130,000 )

$

$

28,000
(160,000)
(107,000)

(107,000)
(107,000)

20,312,000
1,000
36,000
110,000

27,000

(180,000)

(107,000)

20,459,000
290,000
—
225,000
178,000

27,000

(180,000)

(107,000)

$

(29,000)
67,000

(159,000)

(180,000)

$

17,302,000

28,000
(180,000)

22,231
180,000

21,152,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Total

(Deficit)
$

(29,000)
67,000

25,000

27,008,768

Accumulated
Earnings

Capital

(5,815,000 )
(8,945,000 )

3,904,000
(5,041,000 )

$

2,171,000
(2,870,000 )

$

(5,815,000 )
11,286,000
1,000
37,000
110,000
3,904,000
15,338,000
290,000
—
225,000
178,000
2,171,000
18,202,000
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Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

$ 2,171,000

$ 3,904,000

$(5,815,000 )

188,000
843,000
178,000
224,000
—
—
—

157,000
1,054,000
110,000
—
90,000
66,000
—
23,000

1,435,000
103,000
—
32,000
12,000
88,000
3,958,000

(497,000)
(448,000)
(227,000)
1,303,000
(142,000)
121,000
(64,000)
405,000
1,872,000
4,043,000

(1,078,000 )
(674,000)
62,000
(479,000)
110,000
(271,000)
364,000
199,000
(267,000)
3,637,000

(92,000)
653,000
(62,000)
(1,157,000 )
(309,000)
(247,000)
(33,000)
7,160,000
1,345,000

(1,960,000 )
(473,000)
101,000
39,000
(2,293,000 )

(1,710,000 )
(961,000)
5,000
150,000
(2,516,000 )

(1,602,000 )
(270,000)
388,000
170,000
(1,314,000 )

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

(1,159,000 )
(160,000)
—
290,000
(1,029,000 )
721,000
79,000
$ 800,000

(1,252,000 )
(176,000)
—
—
(1,428,000 )
(307,000)
386,000
$
79,000

$

581,000
(813,000)
(107,000)
(160,000)
(499,000)
(468,000)
854,000
386,000

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for income taxes
Debt used to finance purchase of building
Increase of goodwill due to accrual of acquisition earnout

$
74,000
$
49,000
$
—
$ 2,210,000

$ 205,000
$
—
$ 647,000
$ 1,960,000

$ 179,000
$
—
$ 681,000
$ 1,710,000

Operating activities
Net Income (loss) applicable to stockholders

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts
Depreciation & amortization expense
Stock compensation expense
Issuance of equity to ESOP
Loss on retirement of note receivable
Loss (Gain) on disposal of equipment
Realized loss on market values of trading stock
Non-cash impairment of intangible assets
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Account receivables and other trade receivables
Other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries and wages
Other liabilities

Cash provided by Operating Activities

(12,000)

(339,000)

3,118,000

Investing activities

Payment of acquisition earn-out
Payment for purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Proceeds from notes receivable
Cash Flows used in Investing Activities
Financing activities

Net proceeds (payments) on line of credit
Payments of debt
Purchase of treasury stock
Proceeds from issuance of equity, net
Cash Flows used in Financing Activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

1. Significant Accounting Principles
Basis of Presentation
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. (“the Company”) provided premium
transportation and logistics services to thousands of customers primarily through two wholly owned subsidiaries, Express-1, Inc. and
Express-1 Dedicated, Inc. Most of the services provided were completed through a fleet of exclusive use vehicles that were owned and
operated by independent contract drivers. The use of non-owned resources to provide services minimizes the amount of capital investment
required and is often described with the terms “non-asset” or “asset-light.” Among the services offered by the Company during the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were expedited surface based transportation and dedicated expedite delivery. The Company’s
services were offered throughout the United States and parts of Canada and Mexico.
Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the Company added to its subsidiaries, through the asset purchase of Concert Group Logistics,
LLC. and the creation of Bounce Logistics, Inc. The purchase of Concert Group Logistics, LLC. was completed through a newly formed
subsidiary, Concert Group Logistics, Inc. These two subsidiaries are engaged in premium transportation solutions through freight
forwarding and premium freight brokerage solutions, respectively. Due to the timing of these transactions, the Concert Group Logistics,
Inc. and Bounce Logistics, Inc. results of operations have not been consolidated within the financial statements and accompanying
footnotes for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 as presented herein. More detail on the Concert Group Logistics
purchase is located in Footnote 13, within these notes to the financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. and all of its
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company
does not have any variable interest entities whose financial results are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company reviews its estimates, including but not limited to,
purchased transportation, recoverability of long-lived assets, recoverability of prepaid expenses, valuation allowances for deferred taxes,
valuation of investments and allowance for doubtful accounts, on a regular basis and makes adjustments based on historical experiences
and existing and expected future conditions. These evaluations are performed and adjustments are made as information is available.
Management believes that these estimates are reasonable and have been discussed with the audit committee; however, actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
2007 presentation. These reclassifications did not have any effect on total assets, total liabilities, total stockholders’ equity or net income.

40

Table of Contents

Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and, on occasion, short term investments. The Company considers all highly
liquid instruments purchased with a remaining maturity of less than three months at the time of purchase as cash equivalents.

Concentration of Risk
Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, are cash and cash equivalents and
account receivables.

The majority of cash is maintained with a financial institution located within in the United States. Deposits with this bank may
exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand, and, therefore, bear

minimal risk.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables from any one customer is limited due to the Company’s large number of
customers and wide range of industries and locations served. One of its customers, a domestic automotive manufacturer, accounted for
approximately 17% of the Company’s revenues in fiscal 2007. The Company has a significant concentration of credit risk associated
with its aggregate of customer account receivables originating from the domestic automotive industry. For the year ended December 31,
2007, the Company generated approximately 30% of its consolidated revenue from the Big Three U.S. automotive manufacturers. Our
concentration risk is comprised not only of domestic automotive manufacturers (the U.S. Big Three), but also extends to major
automotive industry suppliers. The Company services many other customers who support and derive their revenues from the automotive
industry exclusive of the Big Three and their major suppliers.

The Company extends credit to its various customers based on evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and ability to pay in
accordance with the payment terms. The Company provides for estimated losses on accounts receivable considering a number of factors,
including the overall aging of account receivables, customers payment history and the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation.
Based on managements’ review of accounts receivable and other receivables, an allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately
$77,000 is considered necessary as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. We do not accrue interest on past due receivables.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Major
improvements that increase the estimated useful life of an asset are capitalized. When property and equipment are sold or otherwise
disposed of, the asset account and related accumulated depreciation account are relieved, and any gain or loss is included in the results of
operations. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the related assets:
Years

Land
Building and improvements

0

39
2-7

Revenue Equipment
Office equipment
Warehouse equipment and shelving
Computer equipment and software
Leasehold improvements

3-10
3-7

2-5
Lease term
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Goodwill
Goodwill consists of the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations. The Company follows
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142
requires an annual impairment test for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the
first step of the impairment test requires that the Company determine the fair value of each reporting unit, and compare the fair value to
the reporting unit’s carrying amount. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an indication exists that the
reporting unit’s goodwill may be impaired and the Company must perform a second more detailed impairment assessment. The second
impairment assessment involves allocating the reporting unit’s fair value to all of its recognized and unrecognized assets and liabilities in
order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill as of the assessment date. The implied fair value of the reporting
unit’s goodwill is then compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to quantify an impairment charge as of the assessment date. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, the Company wrote-off approximately $922,000 of goodwill related to companies closed in conjunction
with its restructuring activities. There was no impairment of goodwill associated with the Company’s remaining operations, for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. In the future, the Company will perform the annual test during its fiscal third quarter unless events
or circumstances indicate impairment of the goodwill may have occurred before that time.

Identified Intangible Assets
The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which
establishes accounting standards for the impairment of long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
subject to amortization. The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held-and-used for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash
flows over the remaining useful life of a long-lived asset is less than its carrying amount, the asset is considered to be impaired.
Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. When fair
values are not available, the Company estimates fair value using the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with
the risks associated with the recovery of the asset. For the year ended December 31, 2005 there was an impairment of identified intangible
assets of approximately $1,088,000, primarily related to the Company’s restructuring plan. For the year ended December 31, 2006 the
Company impaired an additional $23,000 relating to a terminated employment contract. For the year ended December 31, 2007, there was
no impairment of intangible assets.

Other Long-Term Assets
Other long-term assets primarily consist of balances representing various deposits, costs associated with the set-up of the
Company’s Evansville operations and the long-term portion of the Company’s non-qualified deferred compensation plan.

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The aggregated net fair value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information
available to management. The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair values.
These financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables, accrued expenses and short-term borrowings. Fair
values were assumed to approximate carrying values for these financial instruments since they are short-term in nature and their carrying
amounts approximate fair values or they are receivable or payable on demand. The fair value of the Company’s debt is estimated based
upon the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt of similar maturities.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue at the point in time it completes delivery of shipments it handles; with related costs of delivery
being accrued as incurred and expensed within the same period in which the associated revenue is recognized. The Company uses the
following supporting criteria to determine revenue has been earned and should be recognized: i) persuasive evidence that an arrangement
exists, ii) services have been rendered, iii) the sales price is fixed and determinable and iv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Revenue is reported by the Company on a gross basis in accordance with release 99-19 from the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), Reporting Revenue Costs as a Principal versus Net as an Agent . The
Company is the primary obligor and is responsible for providing the service desired by the customer. The customer holds the Company
responsible for fulfillment including the acceptability of the service. Requirements may include, for example, on-time delivery, handling
freight loss and damage claims, establishing pick-up and delivery times, and tracing shipments in transit. The Company has discretion
in setting sales prices and as a result, its earnings vary. In addition it has discretion to select its drivers, contractors or other
transportation providers (collectively, “service providers”) from among thousands of alternatives. Finally, the Company bears credit risk
for all of its receivables. These three factors, discretion in setting sales prices, discretion in selecting service provider and credit risk
further support reporting revenue on the gross basis.

Income Taxes
Taxes on income are provided in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the book values and the tax basis of particular assets
and liabilities in addition to the tax effects of net operating loss and capital loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in the tax rate is recognized as income or expense in the
period that included the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided to offset the net deferred tax assets if, based upon the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Effective January 01, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation Number 48
(FIN 48), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB statement number 109.” The Company recognized
no adjustments in its tax liability as a result of the adoption of FIN 48.

Stock Options
The Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS)
Number 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which was adopted January 1, 2006, utilizing the modified prospective method. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123R we accounted for stock option grants using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and accordingly, recognized no compensation expense for stock option grants.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, compensation cost of $178,000 and $110,000 has been charged against income for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The associated income tax benefit recognized in the income statement related to this adoption was
approximately $72,000 and $41,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. There was no impact on cash flows from
operating or financing activities or basic or diluted earnings per share.

The Company has in place a stock option plan approved by the shareholders for 5,600,000 shares of its common stock. Through
the plan, the Company offers shares to employees and assists in the recruitment of qualified employees and non-employee directors.
Under the plan, the Company may also grant restricted stock
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awards, subject to the satisfaction by the recipient of certain conditions and enumerated in the specific restricted stock grant.
Options generally become fully vested three to four years from the date of grant and expire five to ten years from grant date. The
Company granted 485,475 and 300,000 options to purchase shares of its common stock pursuant to its stock option plan during the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had 2,533,525 shares available for future stock
option grants under its existing plan.
The weighted-average fair value of each stock option recorded in expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and were amortized over the vesting period of the underlying
options. The Company has used one grouping for the assumptions, as its option grants are primarily basic with similar characteristics.
The expected term of options granted has been derived based upon the Company’s history of actual exercise behavior and represents the
period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. Historical data was also used to estimate option exercises and employee
terminations. Estimated volatility is based upon the Company’s historical market price at consistent points in a period equal to the
expected life of the options. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant and the
dividend yield is zero. The assumptions outlined in the table below were utilized in the calculations of compensation expense from option
grants in the reporting periods reflected.
Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Grant date fair value

2007

2006

5%
6.0 years
35%
none

4% - 5%
5.0 - 10.0 years
18% - 35%
none

$0.62

$0.22

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had approximately $257,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
share-based compensation that is anticipated to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.0 year. Remaining
estimated compensation expense related to existing share-based plans is $153,000, $89,000 and $15,000 for the years ending
December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.
At December 31, 2007, the aggregate intrinsic value of warrants and options outstanding was $17,266,000 and the aggregate
intrinsic value of options exercisable was $16,051,000. During the year ended December 31, 2007, warrants representing 290,500 shares
were exercised and the Company received approximately and $290,500 in cash from these transactions. During the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, stock options with a fair value of $218,000, $121,000 and $297,000 vested, respectively.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R, to stock-based employee compensation prior to January 1, 2006.
For the year ended December 31, 2005:
2005

Net loss applicable to common stockholders:
As reported
Total stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income applicable to common stockholder,
net of tax
Total stock-based employee compensation determined under fair value based method, net of related tax effects
Pro forma
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders
(Loss) earnings per share
Basic — as reported
Basic — pro forma
Diluted (loss) earnings per share
Diluted — as reported
Diluted — pro forma
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year

$ (5,815,000)
—
(145,000)

$ (5,960,000)
$
$

(0.22)
(0.22)

$
$
$

(0.22)
(0.22)
0.22

Earnings per Share
Earnings per common share are computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” which requires companies to
present basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per common share are computed by
dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding and dilutive options outstanding during the
year. The table below identifies the weighted average number of shares outstanding and the associated earnings per share for the periods
represented.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2007

Net income (loss)
Basic shares outstanding
Basic earnings (loss) per share

2006

$

2,171,000
26,690,382

$

$

0.08

$

26,690,382
636,347
27,326,729

Basic shares outstanding
Dilutive options and warrants
Diluted shares outstanding
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (Note)

$

0.08

3,904,000

26,297,120
0.15
26,297,120
343,892
26,641,012
$
0.15

2005

$ (5,815,000)
26,523,650
$
(0.22)
26,523,650
—
26,523,650
$
(0.22)

Note: Common stock equivalents for the years ended December 31, 2005 were anti-dilutive due to the net losses sustained by the
Company during this period. Therefore, the diluted weighted average common shares outstanding used for the purpose of weighted
average share calculation in this period excludes approximately 12,762 shares for 2005.
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In January 2008, the Company issued 4,800,000 shares of common stock and assumed certain liabilities in conjunction with the
purchase substantially all assets of Concert Group Logistics, LLC. Had these shares been outstanding at the periods presented within this
report, the number of shares used in the denominator of the earnings per share calculations would have changed by the number of shares
issued in this transaction. Certain historical results of Concert Group Logistics will be included on a proforma basis in subsequent
filings, and the actual results of the Company’s newly formed subsidiary, Concert Group Logistics, Inc. will be included on a
prospective basis. For more information on the purchase transaction, please refer to Footnote 13, elsewhere in this report.

The Company has in place an Employee Stock Ownership Plan, which is described in more detail within Footnote 16 within this
report. Shares issued to this plan are included in the denominator of the earnings per share calculation. Shares outstanding for this plan
were 255,000, 165,000 and 75,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation Number (“FIN”) 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement N. 109”, (“FIN 48”) effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. FIN 48 specifies how tax benefits for uncertain tax positions are to be recognized, measured, and derecognized in
financial statements; requires certain disclosures of uncertain tax matters; specifies how reserves for uncertain tax positions should be
classified in the balance sheet; and provides transition and interim-period guidance, among other provisions. The management of the
Company made no adjustments to the financial statements upon adoption of this standard.
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement”.
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
Where applicable, this statement simplifies and codifies related guidance with generally accepted accounting principles. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those years. The
management of the Company is of the opinion that the adoption of this new pronouncement will not have a material impact on its
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”.
SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value at specified election
dates. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fain value option has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent
reporting date. The fair value option may be applied instrument by instrument, with certain exceptions, is irrevocable (unless a new
election date occurs), and is applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments. SFAS 159 is effective for the
Company on January 1, 2008. The management of the Company does not believe the adoption of SFAS 159 will have a material impact
on its financial statements.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”) which replaces SFAS 141,
“Business Combinations”. SFAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for determining how an enterprise recognizes and
measures the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, including noncontrolling interests, contingent
consideration, and certain acquired contingencies. SFAS 141R also requires acquisition-related transaction expenses and restructuring
costs be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as a component of the business combination. SFAS 141R will be applicable to the
Company prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009. SFAS 141R would have
an impact on accounting for any business acquired after the effective date of this pronouncement.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — An
Amendment of ARB No 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a
subsidiary (previously referred to as a minority interest). SFAS 160
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also requires that a retained noncontrolling interest upon the deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at its fair value. Upon
adoption of SFAS 160, the Company would be required to report any noncontrolling interests as a separate component of shareholder’s
equity. The Company would also be required to present any net income allocable to noncontrolling interests and net income allocable to the
shareholders of the Company separately in its consolidated statement of operations. SFAS 160 is effective for the Company on January 1,
2009. SFAS 160 requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All other
requirements of SFAS 160 shall be applied prospectively. SFAS 160 would have an impact on the presentation and disclosure of the
noncontrolling interest of any non-wholly owned business acquired in the future.

2. Subsequent Events
In January 2008, the Company completed the purchase of substantially all assets of Concert Group Logistics, LLC (Concert
LLC) through a newly formed subsidiary, Concert Group Logistics, Inc. The acquisition allowed the Company to enter the premium
transportation market for freight forwarding services. The Company paid total consideration that included $9.0 million in cash,
4.8 million shares of its Common Stock and assumed certain liabilities to complete the transaction. For a more complete analysis of this
acquisition, please refer to Footnote 13.
In January 2008, in order to facilitate the purchase of Concert Group Logistics, LLC, the Company entered into a new line of credit
facility consisting of a $11.0 million receivables based line of credit and a $3.6 million term note. Interest is payable monthly upon this
facility, and principal payments of $100,000 per month are payable on the term facility, until retired. At the time of funding, the
Company drew $3.6 million on the term note and $5.4 million on the receivables line of credit to complete the Concert transaction. A
more complete discussion of this facility can be found in Footnote 10.

In January 2008, the Company formed a new subsidiary, Bounce Logistics, Inc. in order to enter the premium transportation market
for high value brokerage services. Bounce Logistics began operations in March 2008.
On March 10, 2008, the Company satisfied its contingent earnout payment due of $2,210,000 to the former owners of Express-1,
Inc and Dasher Express, Inc. The amount was previously accrued in the Company’s financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and resulted in an increase in goodwill at that time. The Company satisfied this earnout with cash from its working
capital and line of credit. This was the last remaining earnout related to the purchase of the Express-1 and Dasher Express businesses.
The Company has one remaining contingent earnout payment related to the acquisition of Concert Group Logistics, LLC in January
2008. For more information on this earnout, please refer to Footnote 13.

3. Restructuring
During 2005, the Company recorded $4.5 million of restructuring charges related to a reorganizational plan initiated in 2004. The
Company accounted for its restructuring activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and accordingly
recognized impairment for assets and leases no longer used in its operations. The Company recorded impairments and subsequent writeoffs for goodwill and intangibles as well as established reserves for account receivables that became doubtful in conjunction with the
ceased operations. The Company also recorded severance expenses related to payments to employees for positions that were eliminated due
to the restructuring. The Company recorded the following restructuring charges in 2005:
$2.0 million for the writeoff of goodwill,
$1.4 million for the impairment of assets,
$0.5 million for severance packages to various employees,
$0.3 million for the writeoff of uncollectible accounts receivable, and
$0.3 million for other charges associated with the restructuring efforts.
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During the third quarter of 2005, the Company completed substantially all of its restructuring initiatives. Remaining after the completion of the
Plan were its Express-1 expedite transportation operations headquartered in Buchanan, Michigan and its Express-1 Dedicated operation located in
Evansville, Indiana.

4.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts

2007

2006

$ 5,740,000

$ 5,431,000

77,000

77,000

$ 5,663,000

$ 5,354,000

The activity in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts during the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is summarized below:
2007

5.

2006

$

$

77,000
188,000
(188,000)
$ 77,000

Balance at beginning of year
Additions: Charged to cost and expense
Deductions and adjustments
Balance at end of year

732,000

157,000
(812,000)
$ 77,000

Property and Equipment
Years Ending December 31,
2007

$

Buildings
Leasehold improvement
Office equipment
Trucks and trailers
Warehouse equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software

1,066,000
51,000

2006

$

223,000
1,644,000
79,000
670,000

Less: accumulated depreciation
Total property and equipment

$

313,000
4,046,000
(1,734,000 )
2,312,000

$

1,066,000
51,000
166,000
1,782,000
78,000
497,000
258,000
3,898,000
(1,410,000 )
2,488,000

Included within the caption “Trucks and trailers” are assets financed with capital lease obligations of approximately $225,000 as of
December 31, 2007. Accumulated depreciation on these assets was $155,000 for 2007.
Depreciation expense of property and equipment totaled approximately $561,000, $631,000 and $933,000 for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Our “Statement of Operations” included within our financial statements contained depreciation expense in a caption other than “Operating
expenses” for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. For those years depreciation expense of $320,000, $415,000 and $458,000,
respectively, was included within the line item “Operating expenses,” while depreciation expense of $240,000, $216,000 and $475,000, respectively
was included within the line “Sales, general and administrative expense.”
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6. Loans and Advances
In conjunction with its restructuring activities and the related disposal of its Temple operations, the Company entered into a loan
with the buyer of this operation in July 2005. The loan calls for the borrower to remit to the Company payments spread equally over a
sixty month period beginning in July 2006. Interest on this borrowing is accrued at the rate of 6% per annum.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had outstanding balances on this note receivable of $143,000 and $179,000,
respectively, of which approximately $39,000 and $36,000 was classified as short term.

7. Goodwill
The change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

3,567,000
1,960,000
$5,527,000
2,210,000
7,737,000

Balance at December 31, 2005
Contingent contractually earned payments
Balance at December 31, 2006
Contingent contractually earned payments
Balance at December 31, 2007

As of December 31, 2007, the company had accrued $2,210,000 for its final contingent consideration payment related to the
Express-1, Inc. and Dasher Express Inc. acquisitions. Payment was made in March of 2008 in accordance with the terms of the contracts
and will be reflected as a use of cash in 2008. Exclusive of any future impairment of goodwill related to these acquisitions, there will be no
impact on the Company’s earnings as a result of this payment.
In conjunction with the purchase of certain assets of Concert Group Logistics, LLC in January, 2008, the Company entered into a
new contractual arrangement which will result in the creation of goodwill. In addition to the goodwill created at the time of the transaction,
the contract also provides for contingent consideration of up to $2,000,000 be paid to the former owners of Concert Group Logistics, LLC
in the event certain performance measures are achieved in 2008 and 2009. For further discussion on this transaction, see Footnote 13.

8. Identified Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of the following:
Year Ending December 31,

Intangible not subject to amortization:
Trade name
Intangibles subject to amortization:
Employee contracts, net of accumulated amortization of $182,000 and $132,000 respectively
Non-compete agreements, net of accumulated amortization of $328,000 and $232,000, respectively
Customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization of $276,000 and $206,000, respectively
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $493,000 and $434,000, respectively
Total identifiable intangible assets
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2007

2006

$ 3,346,000

$ 3,346,000

18,000
345,000
218,000
23,000

$ 3,950,000

68,000
441,000

288,000
82,000
$ 4,225,000
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The following is a schedule by year of future expected amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets as of
December 31, 2007:
2008
2009
2010

200,000
173,000
160,000
60,000
4,000
7,000
$ 604,000

2011
2012
Thereafter
Total future expected amortization expense

The Company recorded amortization expense of approximately $282,000, $423,000 and $502,000 for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

9. Notes Payable and Capital Leases
The Company enters into notes payable and capital leases with various third parties from time to time to finance certain operational
equipment, real property and other assets used in its business operations. Generally these loans and capital leases bear interest at market
rates, and are collateralized with equipment and certain assets of the Company.
The table below outlines the Company’s notes payable and capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Year Ending December 31,
Interest rates

Equipment loans
Automobile loans
Capital leases for equipment
Total notes payable and capital leases
Less: current maturities of long-term debt
Non-current maturities of long term-debt

6% - 10%
0%

18%

2007

Term (months)

24 - 36
48
24 - 60

$

—
—

84,000
84,000
50,000
$ 34,000

2006

$

9,000
8,000
227,000
244,000

117,000
$ 127,000

The Company recorded interest expense associated with capital leases of $11,000, $21,000 and $38,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For these same years, the Company recorded gross payments for capital lease
obligations of $154,000, $222,000 and $285,000, respectively.

The following is a schedule by year of future minimum principal payments required under the terms of the above notes payable and
capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2007:

$ 50,000

2008
2009
Total future principal payments

34,000

$ 84,000

The Company estimates it will incur interest expense associated with capital leases included within the total minimum principal
schedule above amounting to approximately $9,000 and $6,000 for the next two years (2008 and 2009, respectively). These interest
payments will increase the minimum amounts paid for each of these years.
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In January 2008, the Company entered into a new term loan agreement in conjunction with the purchase of Concert Group Logistics,
LLC. Please refer to Footnote 13 for more discussion on this event and the amounts due and payable associated with this new term loan.

10.

Revolving Credit Facilities

The Company entered into a new credit facility with National City Bank in January, 2008. This facility provides for a receivables
based line of credit of up to $11.0 million and a term note of $3.6 million. The Company may draw upon the receivables based line of
credit the lessor of $11.0 million or 80% of eligible accounts receivables, less amounts outstanding under letters of credit. To fund the
purchase of Concert Group Logistics, LLC, the Company drew down $3.6 million on the term facility and $5.4 million on the
receivables based line of credit. Substantially all the assets of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (Express-1, Inc., Express1 Dedicated, Inc., Concert Group Logistics, Inc. and Bounce Logistics, Inc.) are pledged as collateral securing performance under the
terms of the commitment. The line bears interest based upon a spread above thirty-day LIBOR with an initial increment of 125 basis
points above thirty-day LIBOR for the receivables line and 150 basis point above thirty-day LIBOR for the term note. Amortizing over a
thirty-six month period, the term note requires monthly principal payments of $100,000 together with accrued interest be paid until retired.
The weighted average initial rate of interest on the credit facility was approximately 5.5% and rates are adjusted quarterly. Available
capacity under the line was approximately $4.0 million as of January 31, 2008. The credit facility carries an initial maturity date of
June 30, 2009.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had in place a line of credit facility originally entered in November 2005 with a Michigan
banking corporation (the “Bank”). Under the loan documents, the Company could draw down under this line of credit the lesser of
$6,000,000 or 80% of the eligible accounts receivable of Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated, plus $912,000. The additional $912,000
was available based upon the granting of a security interest in the Company’s Buchanan, Michigan real property. All advances under the
agreement were subject to interest at the rate of the Bank’s prime plus an applicable margin ranging from negative 0.50% to positive
0.25% based upon the performance of our consolidated company in the preceding quarter. The maturity date of the loan was
September 30, 2008 and the line contained various covenants pertaining to the maintenance of certain financial ratios. As of December 31,
2007, the Company had available borrowing capacity of approximately $4.9 million with an effective interest rate of 7.25% on this
facility. The Company was in compliance with all terms and conditions of the Bank agreement, as of December 31, 2007. This former
line of credit was retired simultaneously with the execution of the Company’s new credit facility in January 2008.

The Company had outstanding standby letters of credit at December 31, 2007 of $411,000, related to insurance policies either
continuing in force or recently canceled. Amounts outstanding for letters of credit reduce the amount available under the Company’s line
of credit facilities, dollar-for-dollar.

11.

Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments
The following is a schedule by year of future minimum payments required under operating leases for various transportation and
office equipment that have an initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2007. The leases
have been further classified into categories depending upon whether the lease relates to a location currently used within the Company’s
operations or relates to a closed location. The future minimum lease payments for all closed locations have been recorded as a liability on
the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.
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Current

For the Year Ended December 31,
2008
2009
2010

2011
2012
Total

Operations

Closed
Locations

$ 178,000

$ 63,000

132,000

14,000

126,000
126,000
19,000
$ 581,000

0
0
0

$ 77,000

Rent expense amounted to approximately $301,000, $360,000 and $474,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Contingent Commitment
The Company has entered into an agreement with a third-party transportation equipment leasing company which results in a
contingent liability. The Company has accounted for this contingency based upon the guidelines contained within FIN Number 45 and in
SFAS Number 5. Accordingly the Company has estimated the maximum amount of the contingent liability to be $51,000 and $25,000
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and has recorded this amount as a reserve within its balance sheet and as an expense within its
statement of earnings. The Company periodically evaluates the contingency amount and adjusts the liability based upon the results of
those periodic evaluations. Based upon its analysis, the Company estimates that the range in liability that could be recognized is between
$25,000 and $51,000, as of December 31, 2007.

Litigation
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be a party to a variety of legal actions that affect any business. The Company
does not currently anticipate any of these matters or any matters in the aggregate to have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s
business or its financial position or results of operations.

Regulatory Compliance
The Company’s activities are regulated by state and federal regulatory agencies under requirements that are subject to broad
interpretations. The Company cannot predict the position that may be taken by these third parties that could require changes to the
manner in which the Company operates.

12.

Equity

Convertible Preferred Stock
The authorized preferred stock of the Company consists of 10,000,000 shares at $.001 par value, of which no shares were issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The authorized preferred stock is comprised of three classes: Series A
Redeemable, Series B Convertible and Series C Redeemable, each of with differing terms, rates of interest and conversion rights.

Common Stock
Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote. The holders of common stock are also entitled to receive dividends whenever
funds are legally available and when declared by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), subject to the prior rights of the holders of all
classes of stock outstanding. The company records stock as issued when the consideration is received or the obligation is incurred.
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Treasury Stock
In 2005, the Company received 180,000 shares of its Common Stock from the holders thereof in settlement of certain loans and
deposits between the Company and these shareholders. The shares were recorded at market price on the dates on which they were acquired
by the Company.

Options and Warrants
The Company has in place a stock option plan initially approved by the shareholders for 600,000 shares of stock in November
2001 and later increased by the shareholders to 5,600,000 shares in June 2005. Through the plan the Company offers shares to
employees and to assist in the recruitment of qualified employees and non-employee directors. Under the plan, the Company may also
grant restricted stock awards. Restricted stock represents shares of common stock issued to eligible participants under the stock option
plan subject to the satisfaction by the recipient of certain conditions and enumerated in the specific restricted stock grant. Conditions that
may be imposed include, but are not limited to, specified periods of employment, attainment of personal performance standards or the
Company’s overall financial performance.
The Company’s practice is to issue new shares of its common stock upon the exercise of warrants and options. Accordingly, the
Company issued 290,500 shares of its common stock during the year ended December 31, 2007 upon the exercise of common stock
warrants. In addition to the shares issued in connection with the exercise of common stock purchase warrants during the year ended
December 31, 2007, the Company also issued 22,260 share of its common stock to holders of stock purchase units originally issued in
conjunction with a private placement transaction during 2003.

The following summarizes the Company’s stock option and warrant activity and related information:
Range of Exercise

Shares

13,103,450

Outstanding at December 31, 2004
Warrants issued
Warrants exercised/cancelled
Options granted
Options expired/cancelled
Outstanding at December 31, 2005
Warrants issued
Warrants exercised/cancelled
Options granted
Options expired/cancelled
Outstanding at December 31, 2006
Warrants issued
Warrants exercised/cancelled
Options granted
Options expired/cancelled
Outstanding at December 31, 2007
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Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Prices

$

1.00 - 2.50

$

1.57

860,000
(836,500)
13,126,950

0.57 - 1.25
1.10 - 2.75
0.57 - 2.75

0.93
1.75
1.52

852,502
(825,714)
13,153,738
10,173
(310,500)
485,475
(1,570,000 )
11,768,886

0.74 - 1.29
1.15 - 1.75
0.57 - 2.75
1.25

0.94
1.58
1.49
1.25
1.02
1.41
1.75
1.47

$

1.00 - 1.35
1.11 - 1.48
1.75
0.57 - 2.75

$

Table of Contents

Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about options and warrants outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2007:
Outstanding Warrants and Options
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Number
Remaining
Average
Outstanding
Life
Price

Exercisable Warrants and Options
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Remaining
Number
Average
Life
Exercisable
Price

Range of Exercise

$0.57 - $2.75
$1.75
$1.00 - $2.20
$0.57 - $2.75

3,066,475
1,212,857
7,489,554
11,768,886

5.7
0.5
1.0

2.2

$ 1.22
1.75
1.52
$ 1.47

5.4
0.5
1.0

1.8

2,166,175
1,212,857
7,479,381
10,858,413

$ 1.18
1.75
1.52
$ 1.48

Equity Funding
In 2007, the Company issued a total of 22,231 shares of common stock and concurrently issued warrants to purchase a total of
10,173 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.25. The foregoing shares of common stock and warrants were issued upon the
exercise, by a number of individuals, of options to purchase units consisting of shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants.

During 2007, the Company issued a total of 290,500 shares of common stock upon the exercise by one of its equity holders of
warrants originally issued in a private placement in 2003. The Company received a total of $290,500 in consideration for these exercises.
All of the foregoing securities were issued by the Company in reliance on the exemptions from registration provided by Section 4(2)
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or Rule 506 of Regulation D as promulgated under the Securities Act of
1933. Each of the recipients of the Company’s securities represented to the Company that they were an accredited or sophisticated
investor, had sufficient liquid assets to sustain a loss of their investment in the Company, had consulted with such independent legal
counsel or other advisers as they deemed appropriate to evaluate their investment in the Company, had been afforded the right to ask
questions of the Company, and were acquiring the Company’s securities solely for their own account as a personal investment.

13.

Acquisitions

On January 31, 2008, the Company completed the purchase of substantially all assets and certain liabilities of Downers Grove,
Illinois based Concert Group Logistics, LLC. (“Concert LLC”). The transaction had an effective date of January 1, 2008 and the
Company completed the purchase through a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary Concert Group Logistics, Inc.
At closing the Company paid the former owners of Concert LLC total consideration that includes $9.0 million in cash and
4.8 million shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company received $3.2 million of assets consisting of cash, receivables, office
equipment and other current assets, net of liabilities acquired in the transaction. The transaction was financed through the Company’s
new line of credit and cash available from working capital.

The transaction provides for additional consideration of up to $2.0 million to be paid at the end of 2008, provided certain
performance criteria are met within the Company’s new subsidiary. In the event the full $2.0 million is not earned in 2008, the balance of
additional consideration will be payable at the end of 2009, provided the new subsidiary meets certain cumulative performance provisions
for the years of 2008 and 2009.
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The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and the results of operations of the acquired businesses will be included in the
consolidated financial statements from the effective date of the acquisition. The Company is in the process of allocating the cost of the
acquisition to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based upon estimated fair values. The Company anticipates this valuation to
be completed within the second quarter of 2008, pending the receipt of an independent valuation being completed for the benefit of the
Company’s analysis on the purchased assets.
The following unaudited proforma consolidated information presents the results of operations of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 as if the acquisition of Concert Group Logistics, LLC had taken place at the beginning of each
period presented. Proforma results presented within the table, do not include adjustments for amortization and depreciation of intangibles
and fixed assets as a result of the Concert purchase.
Proforma Consolidated Results (Unaudited)

2007

$

Revenues
Income (loss) before income tax
Net income (loss)
Basic income (loss) per share
Diluted income (loss) per share

14.

$

100,082,000
4,889,000
3,036,000
0.10
0.09

2006

2005

$ 78,919,000
3,989,000
5,117,000
$
0.16
0.16

$ 68,188,000
$

(4,400,000 )
(4,400,000 )
(0.14)
(0.14)

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

2005

Current

$

Federal
State

80,000
8,000
88,000

$

5,000
1,000
6,000

$—
—
—

Deferred
1,047,000

Federal
State

165,000
1,212,000
$ 1,300,000

Total provision

(1,025,000 )
(109,000)
(1,134,000 )
$ (1,128,000 )

—
—
—
$—

The provision for income taxes is different from that which would be obtained by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to
income before income taxes. The items causing this difference are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2007

Provision For Income Tax
Income tax provision at statutory rate
Increase (decrease in income tax due to:
State tax provision
Change in valuation allowance
All other non-deductibles items
Total provision for income tax

2006

$ 1,129,000
181,000

—
(10,000)

$ 1,300,000
55

$

970,000

104,000
(2,073,000 )
(129,000)
$ (1,128,000 )

2005

$ (1,977,000 )
(210,000)
2,073,000
114,000

$

—
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the current and non-current deferred tax asset at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2007

Current deferred tax items
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

2006

30,000

$

(194,000)
23,000
5,000

Prepaid expenses
Adverse lease accrual
Accrued deferred comp
Charitable contributions
Lease accrual
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss
Total current deferred tax asset

—

—
—

20,000

Non-current deferred tax items
Property plant and equipment
Set-up costs
Amortization expense
Adverse lease accrual
Stock option expense
AMT credit
Net operating loss
Total non-current deferred tax asset
Total deferred asset

29,000
(92,000)
6,000
109,000
17,000

165,000
1,500,000
$ 1,549,000

$ 1,069,000

$

$

(95,000)
—
(294,000)
19,000
112,000

1,000,000

(90,000)
(3,000)
(30,000)

615,000

10,000
41,000
37,000
2,104,000

$ 377,000
$1,926,000

$ 2,069,000
$ 3,138,000

20,000

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had both federal and state net operating loss carry forwards. The federal loss carry forward
totaled approximately $5,400,000 and begins expiring in 2021.

15.

Related Party Transactions

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is a member of the former ownership group of Express-1, Inc. During the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded $2,000,000, $1,750,000 and $1,500,000 as additional acquisition
consideration for subsequent payment to this group. The Company’s CEO received approximately 41% of these distributions. The
transaction was treated as an increase in goodwill within the Company’s financial statements during the period it was determined to have
been earned and thereby due and payable. Other family members of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer are also members of the
former ownership group of Express-1, Inc. and received a portion of this distribution.

The Company’s Board of Directors determined that each of these payments to the former owners of Express-1, Inc. should be paid
in cash at the due date of each payment. Items considered in making this determination included the total number of shares outstanding,
the Company’s stock price versus what the Board believed to be the intrinsic value of the Company, the cash position and operating
projections and a number of other factors.
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16.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) salary reduction plan intended to qualify under section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (“Salary Savings Plan”). The Salary Savings Plan allows eligible employees, as defined in the plan document, to
defer up to fifteen percent of their eligible compensation, with the Company contributing an amount determined at the discretion of the
Company’s Board of Directors. The Company contributed approximately $81,000, $32,000 and $27,000 to the Salary Savings Plan for
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The Company also maintains a Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for certain employees. This plan allows participants to
defer a portion of their salary on a pretax basis and accumulate tax-deferred earnings plus interest. The Company provides a matching
contribution of 25 percent of the employee contribution, subject to a maximum Company contribution of $2,500 per employee. These
deferrals are in addition to those allowed in the Company’s 401(k) plans. The Company’s matching contribution expense for such plans
was approximately $0, $1,000 and $5,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. In addition, the Company
contributed $83,000 and $120,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 to the plan to fulfill contractual obligations related to
the acquisition of Express-1 to the former executives of Express-1, all of which were employed within the Company at December 31,
2007.

The Company has in place an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) for all employees. The plan only allows employer
contributions, which is at the sole discretion of the board of directors. To be eligible to receive contributions the employee must complete
one year of full time service and be employed on the last day of the year. Contributions to the plan vest over a five-year period.
ESOP Shares
Awarded

25,000
50,000
90,000
90,000
255,000

Outstanding prior to 2005
2005
2006
2007
Total

Stock
Valuation

$

1.20

Issuance Date

0.74

3/31/2005
10/06/2006

1.38
1.12

12/11/2007

04/10/2007

Expense
Recognized

$

30,000
37,000
124,000
101,000

$ 292,000

In addition to stock contributions in the ESOP Plan, the Company has on occasion contributed cash to provide for general plan
expenses. The company contributed cash of $1,000 and $10,000 to the plan in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. No cash
was contributed to the plan in 2005.

17.

Employment Agreements

The Company has in place with certain of its executives employment agreements calling for base compensation payments totaling
$190,000 for the year ending December 31, 2008. These agreement expire on various dates within the period and also provide for
performance based bonus and stock awards, provided the Company’s performance meets certain clearly defined performance objectives.
These agreements in the process of being extended at the time of this report and such extension will subject the Company to additional
payments based upon the terms agreed to by the parties. Employment contracts for the Company’s executive officers typically vary in
length and provide for continuity of employment pending termination “for cause” for the covered officer.
In addition to the employment contracts in place for its executive officers, in January 2008, the Company established employment
agreements with certain key executives of Concert Group Logistics, Inc. and Bounce Logistics, Inc. These employment agreements
provide for the Company to continue compensation payments totaling $433,000, $310,000 and $310,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. In addition to this minimum base compensation, these contracts also provide for
performance based bonus awards and stock option grants, provided certain clearly defined performance objectives are achieved.
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18.

Quarterly Financial Data
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Operating Revenues
Direct Expenses
Gross Margin
Sales General and Admin
Other Expense
Interest Expense
Income before Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision
Net Income

Basic income per common share(*)
Diluted income per common share(*)

Operating Revenues
Direct Expenses
Gross Margin
Sales General and Admin
Other Expense
Interest Expense
Income before Income Taxes
Income Tax Benefit
Net Income

Basic income per common share(*)
Diluted income per common share(*)

March 31,

June 30,

September 30,

2007

2007

2007

2007

13,842,000
10,328,000
3,514,000
2,242,000
27,000

$ 13,359,000

$ 14,095,000

10,310,000
3,049,000

10,800,000

34,000

13,000

1,211,000
457,000
754,000

798,000
299,000
499,000

$ 11,493,000
8,473,000
3,020,000
2,250,000
7,000
24,000
739,000
278,000
461,000

$
$
$

0.02
0.02

$

$
$
$

0.03
0.03

December 31,

3,295,000
2,579,000

2,271,000
(33,000)

$
$
$

0.02
0.02

(1,000)
(6,000)
723,000

266,000
$
$
$

457,000
0.02
0.02

March 31,

June 30,

September 30,

2006

2006

2006

2006

$9,555,000
7,129,000
2,426,000
1,721,000

$ 11,120,000
8,257,000
2,863,000
1,923,000
29,000

$ 10,851,000
8,005,000
2,846,000
1,861,000
26,000

$ 10,665,000
8,005,000
2,660,000

63,000
848,000

54,000
905,000
—
905,000

103,000
45,000

$
$
$

557,000
—
557,000
0.02
0.02

—
$
$
$

848,000
0.03
0.03

$
$
$

0.03
0.03

December 31,

2,103,000
48,000
43,000

$
$
$

466,000
(1,128,000 )
1,594,000
0.06
0.06

* The sum of Quarterly Financial Data presented for earnings per share differs from full-year results, due to rounding.
19.

Operating Segments

The Company has four reportable segments based on the types of services it provides, to its customers: Express-1 Dedicated, which
provides dedicated expedite services, Express-1, which provides expedited transportation services throughout the continental United
States, parts of Canada and Mexico, Concert Group Logistics, which provides domestic and international freight forwarding services
through a network of independently owned stations, and Bounce Logistics which provides freight brokerage services targeted at
shipments needing a greater

58

Table of Contents

Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
degree of customer service. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s operating segments consisted of
Express-1 and Express-1 Dedicated. Concert Group Logistics and Bounce Logistics became part of the Company’s operation in January
2008 and will be reflected within the statements and operating results on a prospective basis.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
Substantially all intersegment sales prices are market based. The Company evaluates performance based on operating income of the
respective business units.

The schedule below identifies select financial data for each of the business segments.

Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc
Segment Data
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Tax provision (benefit)
Goodwill

$

Total assets
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Tax provision (benefit)
Restructuring expenses
Goodwill

Total assets

47,713,000

4,525,000
715,000
—
—
7,737,000
20,052,000

Total assets
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Tax provision (benefit)
Goodwill

Express-1
Dedicated

Express-1

$

$ 5,076,000
591,000
128,000

—
—
—
$ 4,864,000

—
—
5,527,000
17,889,000

—
—
—
582,000

$ 30,667,000
2,051,000
792,000
—
—
—
3,567,000
$ 15,854,000

$ 4,465,000

$

3,471,000
843,000

1,300,000

1,300,000
7,737,000
23,724,000

0

—

253,000

205,000
(1,128,000 )

—
3,138,000

$

(143,000)

358,000

$

$ 52,789,000

(1,645,000 )
—
65,000

(1,345,000 )

230,000

—
—
—
—
$ 596,000

Consolidated

0

—
2,825,000

847,000

37,327,000
3,891,000
801,000
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Corporate and Other

$

4,716,000
(7,723,000 )
285,000
187,000

65,000

$ 42,191,000
2,776,000
1,054,000
205,000
(1,128,000 )
5,527,000
21,609,000

$ 39,848,000
(5,815,000)
1,435,000
187,000

—

0

4,448,000

4,448,000

—

3,567,000
$ 18,454,000

2,004,000
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective in enabling us to record, process, summarize and report information required to be included in our
periodic SEC filings as of December 31, 2007.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer (our principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (our principal accounting and financial officer) as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, as ours are designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief
Executive Officer (our principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (our principal accounting and financial officer), and effected by our
board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and our directors; and
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the preparation
and fair presentation of published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway

60

Table of Contents

Commission (COSO). Based on management’s assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting is
effective at a reasonable assurance level based on these criteria.

Changes in Internal Controls.
During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Report of the Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

This annual report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to
temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable

PART III

ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Election of Directors” and
“Executive Officers” contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the
solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 11, 2008 (the “Proxy Statement”).
Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act. This information is contained in the section titled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has a separately designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a) (58) (A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The members of the Audit Committee are Jennifer H. Dorris (Chairperson), John Affleck-Graves, and Jay Taylor. All of such
members qualify as an “independent director” under applicable Amex Stock Market standards and meet the standards established by The AMEX
Stock Market for serving on an audit committee. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that Ms. Dorris qualifies as an “audit
committee financial expert” under the definition outlined by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all of its directors, officers and employees. The Company’s Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the Company’s website at www.express-1.com. To date, there have been no waivers under the
Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The Company will disclose future amendments to certain provisions of its Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics and will post any waivers, if and when granted, under its Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on the Company’s website at
www.express-1.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Compensation of Directors,”
“Executive Compensation,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” contained in the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
(a) Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information, as of December 31, 2007, with respect to the Company’s stock option plan under which common
stock is authorized for issuance, as well as other compensatory options granted outside of the Company’s stock option plan.

Plan Category

(a)

(c)

Number of
Securities to
be Issued
Upon Exercise
of Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation Plan
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))

1,213,000
3,066,000
4,279,000

Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

(b)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

$
$
$

1.75
1.22
1.37

—
2,534,000
2,534,000

(b) Security Ownership
The information contained under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections of our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Related
Party Transactions” and “Director Independence.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections of our Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading “Principal
Accountant Fees and Services.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
The Financial Statements required by this Item are included at the end of this report beginning on Page F-1 as follows:
Index to Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
Consolidated Balance Sheets As of December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations For The Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows For The Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity For The Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

33
34

35
36
37
38

39

(b) Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed with this Form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference to the document set forth next to the exhibit listed below:
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5

10.1
14

21
23
31.1
31.2
32.1

32.2

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Segmentz, Inc., dated May 17, 2005.
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Segmentz, Inc., dated May 31, 2006, filed as Exhibit 3 to Form 8-K on
June 7, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc., dated June 20, 2007, filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-Q on August 14, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc., dated June 20, 2007, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-Q on
August 14, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.
2nd Amended and Restated Bylaws of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc., dated August 30, 2007, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K/A on
September 14, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.
Amendment #1 to Executive Employment Agreement between Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. and Mark Patterson, dated September
2007 (Exhibit 10.1 to 10-Q filed 11/13/07)
Code of Ethics, filed as Exhibit 14 to Form 10-QSB on March 13, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Auditors, Pender Newkirk & Company LLP
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (This exhibit shall not be deemed
“filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or otherwise subject to the liability of that section.
Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any other filing under the Security Act of 1933, as amended, or by
the Security Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.)
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (This exhibit shall not be deemed
“filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or otherwise subject to the liability of that section.
Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any other filing under the Security Act of 1933, as amended, or by
the Security Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.)
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Buchanan, Michigan, on March 27, 2008.

EXPRESS-1 EXPEDITED SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:

/s/ Michael R. Welch
Michael R. Welch
(Chief Executive Officer, President and Director)

By:

/s/ Mark K. Patterson
Mark K. Patterson
(Chief Financial Officer and Director)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities indicated:
Signature

Date
T

i

t

l

e

/s/ Jim Martell
Jim Martell

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 27, 2008

/s/ Michael R. Welch
Michael R. Welch

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

March 27, 2008

/s/ Mark K. Patterson
Mark K. Patterson

Chief Financial Officer and Director

March 27, 2008

/s/ Jennifer Dorris
Jennifer Dorris

Director and Chairperson of Audit Committee

March 27, 2008

/s/ Jay Taylor
Jay Taylor

Director

March 27, 2008

/s/ John Affleck-Graves
John Affleck-Graves

Director

March 27, 2008

/s/ Calvin (Pete) Whitehead

Director

March 27, 2008

Director

March 27, 2008

Pete Whitehead

/s/ Dan Para
Dan Para

64

Exhibit 3.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

SEGMENTZ, INC.
Segmentz, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”), does hereby submit this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, duly adopted pursuant to Section 242 and Section 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the
“DGCL”), for the purpose of amending and restating the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, which was originally filed with the Secretary of State of
the state of Delaware on May 8, 2000 under the name RAS Acquisition Corp. The text of the amended and restated Certificate of Incorporation, which has been
adopted by written consent of the Board of Directors pursuant to Section 141 of the DGCL in November, 2004, and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Corporation at the Corporation’s Annual Meeting pursuant to Section 212 of the DGCL on May 17,
2005, is as follows:

ARTICLE I
CORPORATE NAME
The name of this Corporation shall be: SEGMENTZ, INC.

ARTICLE II
PRINCIPAL OFFICE AND MAILING ADDRESS

The principal office and mailing address of the Corporation is 18302 Highwoods Preserve Parkway, Tampa Florida 33647.
ARTICLE III
NATURE OF CORPORATE BUSINESS AND POWERS

The general nature of the business to be transacted by this Corporation shall be to engage in any and all lawful business permitted under the laws of the
United States and the State of Delaware.
ARTICLE IV
CAPITAL STOCK
The maximum number of shares that this Corporation shall be authorized to issue and have outstanding at any one time shall be One Hundred Million
(100,000,000) shares of Common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and Ten Million (10,000,000) shares of Preferred

Stock, par value $0.001 per share. Series of Preferred Stock may be created and issued from time to time, with such designations, preferences, conversion
rights, cumulative, relative, participating, optional, or other rights, including voting rights, qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof as shall be stated
and expressed in the resolution or resolutions providing for the creation and issuance of such series of preferred stock as adopted by the Board of Directors
pursuant to the authority in this paragraph given..

ARTICLE V
TERM OF EXISTENCE

This Corporation shall have perpetual existence.
ARTICLE VI
REGISTERED AGENT AND
REGISTERED OFFICE IN DELAWARE
The street address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, County of New
Castle. The name of the registered agent of the Corporation at such address is the Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE VII
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall consist of at least one member and no more than nine members, each of whom shall be a natural person.
The exact number of directors within the limitations specified in the preceding sentence shall be fixed from time to time by, or in the manner provided in, the
Bylaws of the Corporation.
ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION
The Corporation shall indemnify any person who was, is or is threatened to be made a party to a proceeding (as hereinafter defined) by reason of the fact
that he or she (i) is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or (ii) while a director or officer of the Corporation, is or was serving at the request of the
Corporation as a director, officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation,
partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL, as the same
exists or may hereafter be amended. Such right shall be a contract right and as such shall run to the benefit of any director or officer who is elected and accepts
the position of director or officer of the Corporation or elects to continue to serve as a director or officer of the Corporation while this Article VIII is in effect.
Any repeal or amendment of this Article VIII shall be prospective only and shall not limit the rights of any such director or officer of the obligations of the
Corporation with respect to any
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claim arising from or related to the services of such director or officer in any of the foregoing capacities prior to any such repeal or amendment to this
Article VIII. Such right shall include the right to be paid by the Corporation expenses incurred in defending any such proceeding in advance of its final
disposition to the maximum extent permitted under the DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended. If a claim for indemnification or advancement
of expenses hereunder is not paid in full by the Corporation within sixty (60) days after a written claim has been received by the Corporation, the claimant
may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Corporation to recover the unpaid amount of the claim, and if successful in whole or in part, the claimant
shall also be entitled to be paid the expenses of prosecuting such claim. It shall be a defense to any such action that such indemnification or advancement of
costs of defense are not permitted under the DGCL, but the burden of proving such defense shall be on the Corporation. Neither the failure of the Corporation
(including its board of directors or any committee thereof, independent legal counsel, or stockholders) to have made its determination prior to the
commencement of such action that indemnification of, or advancement of costs of defense to, the claimant is permissible in the circumstances nor as actual
determination by the Corporation (including its board of directors or any committee thereof, independent legal counsel, or stockholders) that such
indemnification or advancement is not permissible shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that such indemnification or advancement is not
permissible. In the event of the death of any person having a right of indemnification under the foregoing provisions, such right shall inure to the benefit of his
or her heirs, executors, administrators and personal representatives. The rights conferred above shall not be exclusive of any other right which any person may
have or hereafter acquire under any statute, bylaw, resolution of stockholders or directors, agreement, or otherwise.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to the extent permitted by then applicable law, the grant of mandatory indemnification pursuant to this
Article VIII shall extend to proceedings involving the negligence of such person.
The Corporation may additionally indemnify any employee or agent of the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law.

As used herein, the term “proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative,
arbitrative or investigative, any appeal in such action, suit or proceeding, and any inquiry or investigation that could lead to such action, suit or proceeding.
The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the
Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture,
trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or
not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under Section 145 of the DGCL.
3

ARTICLE IX
LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS
A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith
or which involve intentional misconduct or knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the DGCL, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director
derived an improper benefit. Any repeal or amendment of this Article IX by the stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only, and shall not
adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of a director of the Corporation arising from an act or omission occurring prior to the time of such
repeal or amendment. In addition to the circumstances in which a director of the Corporation is not personally liable as set forth in the foregoing provisions of
this Article IX, a director shall not be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders to such further extent as permitted by any law hereafter enacted, including,
without limitation, any subsequent amendment to the DGCL.

ARTICLE X
BYLAWS
The directors of the Corporation shall have the power to adopt, amend and repeal the bylaws of the Corporation without the consent or vote of the
stockholders.

ARTICLE XI
CUMULATIVE VOTING
Cumulative voting with respect to the election of directors is expressly prohibited.

ARTICLE XII
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors, officers or stockholders, or between the Corporation and any person (as
used herein “person” means other corporation, partnership, association, firm, trust, joint venture, political subdivision, or instrumentality) or other
organization in which one or more of its directors, officers or stockholders are directors, officers or stockholders, or have a financial interest, shall be void or
voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the board or committee which authorizes the
contract or transaction, or solely because his, her or their votes are counted for such purpose, if: (i) the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest
and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the board of directors or the committee, and the board of directors or
4

committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested directors, even thought the disinterested
directors be less than a quorum; or (ii) the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known
to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (iii) the contract
or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the board of directors, a committee thereof, or the
stockholders. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the board of directors of a committee
which authorizes the contract or transaction.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer has executed this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation on this May 17,
2005.
/s/ Andrew Norstrud
Andrew Norstrud, Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 21

List of Subsidiaries
Name of Subsidiary

Express-1, Inc.
Express-1 Dedicated, Inc.
Concert Group Logistics, Inc.
Bounce Logistics, Inc.

State of Incorporation

Michigan
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 23

PNC CPAS
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Board of Directors
Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.
Buchanan, Michigan
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-112899) of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. of our
report dated March 26, 2008, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc., which appear in Express-1 Expedited
Solutions, Inc.’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2008.

/s/ Pender Newkirk & Company LLP
Pender Newkirk & Company LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
March 26, 2008

EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Michael R. Welch, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2008

/s/ Michael R. Welch
Michael R. Welch
Chief Executive Officer, Director

EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Mark K. Patterson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2008

/s/ Mark K. Patterson
Mark K. Patterson
Chief Financial Officer, Director

Exhibit 32.1
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Michael R. Welch, Chief Executive Officer of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to my knowledge, on the date of this Certification:

1. This Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2. That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: March 27, 2008

/s/ Michael R. Welch
Michael R. Welch
Chief Executive Officer, Director

Exhibit 32.2
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Mark K. Patterson, Chief Financial Officer of Express-1 Expedited Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to my knowledge, on the date of this Certification:

1. This Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2. That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: March 27, 2008

/s/ Mark K. Patterson
Mark K. Patterson
Chief Financial Officer, Director

